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An unsigned letter was written in September of 1894, it read: -

'A man died here on the 27th August 1894. He was born on the 22nd of  December 1829 in the province of Oldenburg, Germany; and named George Henrich Lüeerzsen the son of Henry and Margerite Lüeerzsen, Stepson of Gotfriedt Swarting.

His half sisters were Mari Lousia and Fredricka Adelaidt Cecilia Swarting,

Nephew of George, Arron, Frederich, Gerold and Catherine Lüeerzsen. Great Uncle' name- Herman, Great Aunt’s name was Margerite, second cousin of Herman , John Henry, Margerite and Adeliadt Lüeersen,

If you could translate this, and send same to his native place we would be obliged, He left home at the age of nineteen, was naturalised in America, was supposed to have been shipwrecked on the Irish coast in about 1851 or 1852.

    If this could be put in some of the newspapers, his friends would see it’.

So ends the letter, who wrote it, was it ever sent; we do not know.

George arrived in Australia (probably Sydney) in 1854, during those heady gold rush days, aged 24 years. He had been a sailor for some five years and most likely jumped ship along with his fellows. He spent some four months in N.S.W before coming on down to Victoria, where he lived for the next forty  years.

The population of the Victorian goldfields in 1854  was some 67,000 persons, the largest field being Ballarat with 16,684 persons. This changed dramatically and by 1861 the population of the goldfields had topped 228,000 people.

George had been in Australia 12 years, when in 1866, aged 36 year; he met & married Mary Jane Barnes at No 2 Creek, Percydale.

Mary was then 21 years old, having been born at Yankalilla, S.A. to William and Anne Barnes, who had arrived from the County of Durham, England,  on the 17th October 1837.

George and Annie?

George was naturalised at Sandhurst (now Bendigo) in Victoria on the l9th October 1871.

Mary & Ciss?

They had 11 children at No 2 Creek, although 3 died as infants. Sometime during those latter years while George was out plowing, the plough hit a stump and he was thrown to the ground; breaking his back. He was a paraplegic for the rest of his days.

"Grandfather Leersen had very long arms. After he was crippled he learned to walk on his hands backwards, dragging his legs, To make a living Grandfather & the family used to grow vegetables and fruit and Grandfather used to hawk it around.  My Father (Harry) , when he was old enough, went with him to open the gates. When the cart was loaded Grandfather used to walk out on his hands, grab the top of the wheel with one hand and a spoke with the other and throw himself over the wheel onto the seat,"

"Grandfather had a keen sense of humour, was very witty, with a loud hearty laugh, When the old women used to complain about the fruit or vegetables  he use to deliberately misunderstand them , and twist what they said around to sound the opposite to what they meant. He would laugh and joke, and the argument was won”

Unfortunately George died When only 64 years old; in 1894 of cardiac failure caused by chronic bronchitis. But still he did have the joy of seeing his first grandchild born some 20 months previously - Vincent (Vic) Thomas Leersen,  Uncle Vic was nearly 91 years when he died in November of 1983.

It was on the 22nd of December 1921 that Grandmother Leersen died, aged 76 years;  by then she had over 40 grandchildren; and so our story continues :-


According  to the Fairfield Genealogical Library (285 Heidelberg Road Northcote Victoria, Ph 9481 7079 ), the spelling of Lüeerzsen  or Lüerzsen are equally correct and  indeed that the name is probably of Danish origin.  Certainly the Duchy of Oldenburg was under Danish rule from 1676 to 1773.

There are three English spellings of Lüeerzsen : Learson , Leersen & Leerson all seem be clouded in  some mystery; George the eldest son believed that Learson was the right spelling and his brothers were equally adamant.

Herman Lüeerzsen =  unknown,
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Catherine




           |     George Henrich = Mary Jane Barnes




           |      b 22.12.1829        b  13.7.1845




           |      d 27.8.1894          d 22.12.1921




           =  Gotfriedt  
  |
James George (George)
b 12.1.1867




           |   Swarting (2)
  |
Thomas William (Tom) 
b 1.2.1868

_______________________ |______

  |
Frederick Gerald (Fred)
b 30.3.1870

Mari Louisa     Fredricka Adelaidt Cecelia.
  |
Mary Jane, died at birth







  |
Anthony, died at birth







  |
Albert Henry (Albert)

b 21.9.1874

As far as is known, all the children         
  |
Annie Margaret (Annie)
b 17.7.1876

were born at Home at No 2 Creek, 

  |
Mary Cecelia (Ciss)     
b  9.8.1879

Percydale Avoca Victoria
   

  |
John Henry, died at birth.







  |
Anthony James Henry (Harry) b 12.1.1883







  |
Charles Herbert  (Charlie)
b 24.2.1885

Now a little on the Family of Mary Jane Barnes: William & Anne Barnes together with their two sons sailed for Australia in 1837 aboard the 'Katherine Stewart Forbes', arriving in Port Adelaide on the 17th of October that year. For several years following ' their arrival in the colony they lived at Yankalilla near Adelaide. Here the rest  of the family where born; around 1850 when gold was being discovered in abundance  in Victoria, the family decided to move 

east & try their luck. They must have stuck to the rapidly developing routes as they brought all their processions with them; all the children were quite small, so they travelled slowly. It speaks well of Anne as a Mother that none of her infants died in what no doubt were hard conditions. The Family settled at Avoca where good pastures were being opened up along with sizeable gold finds.

William and Anne had 7 children: -

James born in England in 1835. He died of fever  while gold prospecting in Northern Queensland in 1875. He is remembered on his parents gravestone at Avoca.

John Dent  born in England in 1837. He died at Maryborough in 1894 and was  buried at Avoca in an unmarked grave. 

He married Mary Ann Bowden in 1865. They had 13 children : Ann Dent, Thomas, William Henry, John James, Louisa  Jane, Samuel Anthony, Selina Agnes, Charles Edward, Hertil Walter, Robert Walton Horace,  John Dent and Mary Ann.

Thomas born in South Australia in 1840, he died at Watchem in 1902 and was buried in the Donald cemetery. He married (1) Agness Douglas in 1873 and following her death he married (2) Margaret Sands in 1887, Their children: (1) William James, Annie Jane, Hannah, John Thomas Douglas and Rankin. (2 Robert Anthony,  Alick Henry, Henry Francis, Thomas Walter, Egbert Coatland and Leonard Clarence

William Walton born in South Australia in 1842, Died at Emu Creek, Srathfieldsaye in 1898, He was buried at Bendigo, He married Jane Henry. Their children: William Henry, Mary Jane, Walton Westwood, Alice Dent, Emmeline Hannah, Lucy Jane and James Alfred Garfield Lockwood.

Mary Jane born in South Australia in 1845 and died at Avoca in 1921. She married George Heinrich Leersen in 1866. Their children: James George, Thomas William, Fredrick Gerald, Mary Jane died at birth, Anthony died at birth, Albert Henry, Annie Margaret, Mary Cecelia, John Henry died at birth, Anthony James (Harry) and Charles Herbert.

Henry born in South Australia in 1847, He died at Avoca in 1917, He married Margaretta Anderson in 1873 at Avoca. Their children were: Francis William, Henry James, Robert John, Samuel Douglas, Florence, Walter, Lily Elizabeth, Mary Jane and Alfred.

Anthony born in South Australia in 1848. He died in Western Australia in 1915.

He married Annie Wright in Avoca. Their children; John Edward, Elizabeth (Lil), Henry William, Florence Ellen, Katie Mary, George Herbert, Walter James and Grace Evelyn.

THE DESCENDANTS OF GEORGE AND MARY JANE LEERSEN.

George Learson & his family
George was born on the 12.10.1867. The depression of the 1890's was very severe in Victoria, but at about that time the Western Australian goldrush started. George like many thousands of others headed west in 1894, He got very seasick on the voyage over and vowed never to go back east until they built a railway. When they eventually did build one, he was content to stay on. At some stage he changed his name to Learson.

George was quite a blade shearer, easily managing his 200 a day, a feat he apparently achieved again on his 70th birthday. Droving and Kangaroo shooting helped make ends meet, but prospecting and mining were his chief loves. He is lovingly remembered by his daughter Enid as a quietly spoken kind man who didn’t drink, smoke or swear.

George lived most of his last days at Nannine near Meekatharra, and from there he wrote to his youngest brother Charlie in 1943: ‘We’ve had no rain on the Murchison since winter before last. Drought rides on the wind, and what a windy hell hole it is. Our lake has nearly dried up, salt for miles. & years of drought, then 14 inches of rain in a few weeks of summer & now 12 months again and no rain, nor sign of it. The mulga's in great heart though and stock are taking to it again.’ Another comment: ‘Wireless, Pictures and Petrol have ruined the world, especially Petrol.’
George married Annie Eliza Davis in 1914 in Perth, Annie was born in 1875.

They had one child, Enid Gladys, born in 1914 in Fremantle.

George died in Kalgoorlie on the 31st August 1944, aged 77 years. Annie died in March of 1958 aged 83 years.

George at age 70

His wife Annie

Enid married Herbert Charles Maisey on the 22.1.1936, who was born in 1911.  Their children: Lyle Herbert Walter b October 1936, Janice Enid (Jan) b 1939, Ernest Kevan (Kevan) b 1941, Neil Robert b 1943 & Ronald James b 1944.

Herb died in 1994.

Lyle died in a motorcycle accident in Victoria in 1955, aged 18 1/2 years old.

Jan married Leslie (Les) George Crosby at Mt Barker in 1960, who was born in 1936 in Albany.

Their children: Dianne Lesley b 1962 and Kathryn Amelia (Kathy) b 1964, both at Mt Barker.

Les died on 30.11.1996 after a battle with cancer. 

Back Row: Dianne & Terry, Jan & Les Crosby

Yvette, Enid & Herb Maisey, Kathy & Susanne.  Dec 1987

Kathy married Mervyn (Merv) Ross Bailey

Their children: Yvette Amelia b 1981 & Susanne Kaye b 1984.

Dianne married Terry Michael Fogliani in 1984 in Bunbury.

Kevan married Elizabeth (Liz) Olsen in 1972.

Their children: Tasman James b 1973 and David Peter b 1978.

Neil married Judith Richards in 1965 who was born in 1945.

Their children: Noel Robert b 1967 and Brad Arthur Charles b 1971.

Neil is a bricklayer of note, a craftsman who is well known in the Ballarat area for his good work.

He came across to Victoria for a visit, liked the area, met Judith and settled down.


Kerri with Cloe & Brad

Noel died as a result of a vehicle accident near Ballarat on the 9.4.1989

Brad married Kerri Elizabeth Sheahan on 19.3.1994; who was born in 1968, their child: Chloe Elizabeth b 20.11.1998

Ronald (Ron)  married Shirley Jean Morony in 1968 at Albany, W.A.

Their children: Jarron Leigh b 1977 and Nadine Tara b 1978.

Ron died on 4.12.1992 from cancer.

Jarron has completed his Uni degree in Sports management and Commerce and is ready to go places.

Nadine is back at Uni studying tourism, having worked in the Industry.

Ray Leerson, Les Cousins, Enid Maisey, Sheila Cousins, Judy & Neil, Kerri & Brad, Rose & Harold Richards, Penny Helfrich, Michelle Whitehead & Cliff

Front Row: Julie-anne Leerson, Kevan Maisey, Colin & Diane Whitehead. 








19.3.1994.

Tom Leersen & his family

Tom was born on 1.12.1868, and died on the 5.12.1957 aged 89 years, Tom was Engineer, whose work took him throughout Victoria. Roy Leersen said of him that Tom was my favourite Uncle, for "Wherever Uncle Tom was; there was action!”

Emily & Muriel

He married Emily Adda Jackson in 1889, who was born in 1875.  Emily died on 26th October 1941 aged 66 years.  Their children: Vincent Thomas b 1892, Gladys Susannah b 1894, Doris b 1895 (still born), Phyllis Emily Vera b 21.1.1899, Muriel Rose b 2.3.1903, and George Staughton b 1905.

Tom remarried in approx 1946 at Ballan to Ruby Bretherton. He is buried in the old Ballarat cemetery.

Vincent (Vic) married Eileen Burns (from Melbourne) in 1940 at St Stephens Cathedral, Brisbane. After their honeymoon at the Canberra Hotel, they journeyed out west to Chinchilla where Vic worked as an engineer at the Butter factory. 

Eileen was born on the 20.12.1894 and died in 1990 aged 96; Vic died on the 24.11.1983, aged nearly 91 years.

Vic and Eileen had no children. He was an Engineer, like his father before him but mostly resided in the Sunshine state, and until retirement worked as an Engineer, in many of State’s butter factories.

Over the years he held various positions at country factories including Miles & Grantham.

He left home in 1915 and travelled around Australia, seeing Uncle George in Perth, before heading north to Wyndham, where he worked at the Government meat works. He described the stillness & heat there as amazing; he said that if you were up through the night and threw a handful of dust into the air, it would probably be still hanging there in the morning!. Later he worked at Darwin before moving in Queensland, Vince did come back to Victoria once!. 

Their house at Dunwich, Nth Stradbroke , in its early days.

His last main place of work was at Penny's (now Coles) in Brisbane, before retiring to Dunwich, North Stradbroke Island where he built their retirement home, so he could enjoy his sea fishing. But even there he worked with Dunwich Sand Mining as their engineer. 

Both Vic & Eileen are buried in the same grave in Nudgee cemetery.

Gladys met Will Gray at the Northcote Baptist church, which they both attended; Will had grown up in the Springhurst/Chiltern area of northern Victoria but had come to Melbourne for work. Glad was instrumental in the formation and building of the Thornbury Baptist church where they were later married. Both of them taught Sunday school there and attended there until the West Preston Baptist Church opened up quite close to where they lived in Gilbert Rd, where they lived for the majority of their married lives, but did spend several years during the war living at Bruces Creek near Whittlesea. In the early days Will had motor vans and carted furniture etc and I think ran a backyard coal/wood business at one stage. When I came on the scene in the early 50’s he was the engine driver at the Giant licorice factory in Brunswick and stayed there until retirement. He had a substantial apiary interest which he conducted for many years and I used to help him quite often in my early days of courting Shirley and after our marriage too. (Thanks to Barry Stokes for his help with Gladys’s family)

        Will & Gladys

Gladys married James William (Will) Gray in 1927, who was born in 1898 and who died in 1974, aged 76 years, Gladys died in 1980, aged 86 years.

They had two children: Ronald (Ron) James b 1929 and Shirley Gladys b 1932.

Ron had meningitis when he was just 4, but made a good recovery; however after he started school his Mother approached the staff at school and asked that he not bring home any homework; it took Ron many years to find out why he was so lucky. He did his Turner & Fitter apprenticeship at McPhersons, then did his instrument & tool maker, then scientific instrument maker. He also had a real bent towards electrical things and built valve radios for sale in his spare time. Later he got a job in the Physics Department at the Melbourne University in 1950 and ended up staying there for just on 34 years enjoying all but the last 6 years (in administration). 

Most of those years were involved with building and maintaining the University's first Cyclotron, which was used in the theoretical study of protons. One triumph involved the construction of an arc 

Ron (LHS) & his Scottish colleague.

stabiliser, something that was thought to be impossible. Unfortunately one day a control rod was accidentally left out of the cyclotron and Ron received a dose of radiation, which has considerably affected his health. The cyclotron was eventually sold to the University of Aberdeen in Scotland and set up in a basement but never got used - due to a most unfortunate incident involving a burst sewerage pipe!. Ron came to Bright for a few days break from the business of work and has been delighted to be able to buy a place and later settle there amidst its tranquillity and caring people.

Ron married Dorothy Hall in 1958. They had no children and divorced in 1967.

Later on in 1968 Ron married Lois Edith McLeery, who had 2 children from a previous marriage: (Liana & David). They separated in 1972 and were divorced in 1977.


Shirley, Rodney & Robyn, Barry  1981.

Shirley trained as a comptometrist and also did a lot of secretarial work leading up to the time she married Barry Stokes in 1955, who was born on 10.12.1933. Shirley was happy to stay at home and later start a family and look after them all; a real homemaker. Barry started work at the Post Office in 1949 as a telegraphist and worked in the Chief Telegraph Office in Melbourne and held many different positions with the PMG & later Telecom. He ending up working in the Secretary’s office in an executive position on “special projects” dealing with law enforcement agencies throughout Australia. Barry retired in 1989 but unfortunately Shirley had contracted cancer and she died in 1992.

Their children Rodney William b 1959 and Carole Susanne b 1960.

Barry has married again to Wu Hong Ying (Lily) at Chengdu, China on 12.8.1998.

Rodney married Robyn Walley in 1981, who was born in 1960. Their children: Bree Ann b 1984, Jai William b 1986 and Glen Mathew b 1988.

Jai, Bree

& Glen, 1997

         Phyllis & Fred Whitteker

Phyllis was born on 21.1.1899 and prior to her marriage in l921 to Fredrick Robert Whitteker (b 14.3.1900) worked as a tailoress. Fred grew up in Everton and moved to Melbourne after the family farm had been sold in 1912. Fred was a cabinet maker with the Australian Furniture Co. and later with Burge Bros. They spent the early years of their marriage in Clifton Hill and Northcote finally settling at 6A Woolhouse Street, Northcote where they made their home and lived from 1935 until their passing. Phyllis was devoted to her husband and family and was admired for her fine crochet work.

Phyllis married Fred Whitteker in 1921, who was born on 14.3.1900. Phyllis died in 1970 aged 71 years, and Fred died in 1972, aged 72 years.

Their children: Lindsay Robert b l922 and Gwenyth (Gwen) Emily b 1925.


     Lindsay & Norma 

Lindsay Whitteker did his apprenticeship with Bodington's as a Turner and Fitter. In 1947 he commenced work in the workshop with the Melbourne & Metropolitan Board of Works. Lindsay continued his association with metal trades as he progressed to position of inspector with the Mechanical & Electrical Branch of the Materials and Testing Contract. He married Norma Crichton in 1948 and they made their home in Keon Park in 1951 and have continued to live there. Since retiring, Lindsay has restored the family Vauxhall DX l4hp 1937 model and participated as Member of the Vauxhall Car Owners Club of Australia. He has also been associated with Masonic Lodge since 1944 at the Northcote Temple and has continued his membership as a Past Master. His hobbies include woodwork; cabinet making and the recent acquisition of a lathe means he is practising old skills to work metal into model stationary steam engines.

Lindsay married Norma Crichton in 1948.

Their children: Zena Linette b 1952 and Janet Doreen b 1955.


Sandy & Zena with Jeremy & Matthew

Zena trained as a Primary Teacher at Coburg Teachers' College and moved to the country to take up teaching positions at Devenish, Currawa and Shepparton. Zena married Sandy, a trade instructor in the mechanics workshop at Dookie Agricultural College and they live at Kialla with their boys Jeremy and Matthew. Zena is currently teaching full-time at Shepparton East Primary.

Zena married Roger Alexander (Sandy) Provan in 1976.  Their children: Jeremy Linton b 26.1.1986 and Matthew Alexander b 1.5.1989.

Gwen Whitteker

Gwen married Albert G Edwards in 1946, who was born in 1923. Their children: Robert John Albert b 1953, Lloyd Clifford Ian b 1955 and Gwyneth Lorna b 1958.

Albert died in 1995.

Robert married Sylvia Deacon in 1978. Their children: Alanna b 1982 in England, Jason b 1985 in Perth, W.A.

Gwyneth married Robert N Rutzou in 1979, who was born in 1957, Their children: Timothy b 1985, Stephen b 1986 and Benjamin b 1988. Robert has been a Flying Padre with the Uniting church since 1992 and is based at Broken Hill.

Lloyd married Brenda Hartland on the 4.l0.1987.

Their children: Melanie b 1992 and Claire b 1995.

Muriel married James Stewart (Jim) De Silva in 1930, who was born on 14.2.1902.

Their children: Gordon James b 1934 and June b 1939. June died in Jan 1947, aged 7 1/2

from peritonitis.  Jim died on 2.12.1982 aged 80 years, Muriel died on 4.6.1988 aged 85 years.


     Jim & Muriel

Gordon married Lynette Alexander in 1962 who was born in 1941.

Their children: Stuart b 1967 and Narelle b 1969.

George Leersen

George never married, He travelled extensively  around Australia, finally meeting up with his brother Vic in Brisbane during the War years. He worked on the Snowy Mountains Scheme, and then later on the Country Roads Board in Victoria.

On retirement he was pleased to be able to park his caravan under a peppercorn tree of a neighbourly family at Tallygaroopna Vic. He even got onto the electoral roll ‘for the first time in his life so he could get the pension!’. George died in Melbourne in 1978.

Fred Leersen & his family
Frederick Gerald (Fred) born 30.3.1870. Died at Avoca in 1939 aged 69 years.

Fred was a farmer at Eddington and also a dealer in sheep, droving them into Bendigo for the weekly sheep sales there.

Fred

He went to Western Australia with a boatload of horses in his younger days, whilst over there he was crushed by a horse during mustering and spent some 9 month in hospital on his return.

He married Anne Ellen Fraser in 1905, who was born 4th Aug 1882. Anne died on 22nd April 1941 aged 59 years. Their children: Donald b 1906, Nellie b 16.9.1907, Angus b 1909, Frederick (Fred) b 1913, Annie b 1915, Eric b 1916, Robert & Walter (the twins) b 1918, and Isabella b 4.4.1923.

Anne

Don was the closest relative to me when I came to Ararat and he & Aunty Laura opened up their home and hearts to this nephew. Don was a good storey teller and there wasn’t much that he didn’t know about Avoca & its people, the bush, the Mallee and the family. I certainly learnt a lot from him and started collecting information on how the various branches of the family all fitted together. 








On the back of this photo  “This is 








Laura Robinson and myself”  (Don Leersen)

Don spent quite a lot of time working in the Mallee, some of it making tanks with Uncle Albert. After He & Laura were married, they lived out of town on about 20 acres and Laura was kept busy raising their children and milking cows while Don did farm work for Major Ebeling amongst others; he was also working out on the gold dredge when the flood came and it all went under. The comfortable house in Boyce St became home for some 38 years. Don was only 55 when he had his first heart attack, which certainly slowed him down but also got him involved in bowls, which he greatly enjoyed.

Don married Laura Robinson in 1940, who was born in 1911. Their children: Lorraine Elizabeth b 1940, Stanley (Stan) John b 1941, Graeme Donald b 1943 and Kathleen  (Kathy) Ann b 1946.


         Kathy, Graeme, Stan & Lorraine

Don died on the 1st September 1986. 

Lorraine married Francis Leslie (Frank) Raeck in 1961, who was born in 1940.

Their children; Leanne Maree b 1962, Shane Francis b 1964 and Darren William b 1968.

Leanne married John Clapton on 8th Nov 1986.

Leanne & John parted in 1992.

Leanne has a son Richard Francis b 3.5.1996.

Darren married Melissa Potter on 2.12.1995. Their son Nickolas Dacey was born on 17.12.1997.

          Frank, Shane & Darren (at the rear)

          Leanne & Lorraine in front.

Stan married Kathleen (Kathy) Pamela Brown in 1962. Their children Mark Alexander b 1968 and Julie Michelle b 1969.  Stan died on 10.4.1990.


           Stan & Kathy

   Julie, David & Deanna, 1994

Julie married David Haines in 1994, who was born in 1969. Julie has a daughter Deanna Scott b 1987; Julie & David have a daughter: Lillian b 1994.

Graeme married Christine Brearley in 1969 who was born in 1948. Their Children:

Wayne Donald b 1970 and Keith Ronald b 1975.

Lorraine married Francis Leslie (Frank) Raeck in 1961, who was born in 1940.

Their children; Leanne Maree b 1962, Shane Francis b 1964 and Darren William b 1968.


       Lyn & Lionel, David & Tammie

Kath married Graeme John Raeck in 1968, who was born in 1936. Their children: Lionel John b 1969 and Tammie Anne b 1971. 

Lionel married Lyn Campbell in 1993, who was born in 1974.

Tammie married David Willis in 1994, who was born in 1970.

Nellie worked out on a property near where Lake Cairn Curren is today, after leaving home at Eddington but it was while she was up visiting Uncle Harry's family at Lake Cullulleraine that she met Colin Hunter, who farmed up that way with his brother Harman. After Nellie & Colin were married (at Avoca), they lived up there in the Mallee in a humble house that like many similar dwellings in the area had hessian walls. 

      Back: Fred & Anne

      Front: Colin & Nellie, 1934

Hazel was born up there, but as the War years approached and Colin enlisted in the Army, Nellie & Hazel shifted back to Avoca where Hazel started school. After the War years, Colin & Nellie started dairying down in the Otways, where Colin's POW years (in Europe) were starting to catch up with him. These years certainly took their toll and his health was never all that good afterwards, throwing a large load onto Nellie & Hazel. Colin died at the age of 63 in 1966.
Nellie married Colin John Hunter on 19.9.1934 in Avoca, who was born on 31.3.1903. Colin died on 28.4.1966 aged 63 years, They had one child: Hazel Dorothy b 2.5.1938.    

Nellie died on 11.10.1981.

Hazel married John Monk on 3.5.1958 at St John’s Bendigo, who was born in 1933. Their children: Vicki Maree b 1.8.1959, Roslyn Leanne b 30.12.1960, Debra Lynette b 10.9.1962 and John Royce b 22.4.1975.

        Back row: Katie & Roslyn, Gemma, Ken & David

Next row: Lauren, Calvin, Jaclyn, Debbie, Vicki & Nicole

         Middle row: JR, John & Hazel, Alisha & Matthew

                 in the front: Alanna, Jake & Hayley

Vicki. married Kenneth John Clowes  on 1.5.1982 who was born on 25.7.1959, Their children : Nicole Maree b 17.4.1985 and Matthew Dean b 3.6.1987.

Roslyn married Robert Franklin (Frank) Turner on 30.4.1983, who was born on 6.11.1959.

Their children: Lauren Sheree b 24.7.1987, Alisha Jade b 5.5.1989, Jake Brenton b 7.5.1992 and Katelin Louise b 30.9.1996. Roslyn & Frank separated in 1997.

Debbie married David John Tyquin on  3.11.1985  who was  born in 22.2.1965.

Their children: Calvin Lee b 1.6.1987, Jaclyn Danae b 5.1.1989 and twins Alanna Brittany & Hayley Elise b 14.2.1992.

John married Gemma Louise Rentsch on 21.3.1998 in Kerang, who was born on 1.3.1977

Their children: Sinead Alexandra b 29.5.1998 at Echuca,  Madeleine Louise b 29.4.1999 in Deniliquin. 

Angus & Molly 

1973

Angus married Mary Ellen (Molly) McGuire in 1956, who was born in 1913.

They had no children. Molly died on 31.10.1996 while Angus died on 26.3.1998; both are buried at Camperdown. Angus & Molly married in 1956 after meeting at Merrimul where Molly was cook at the local hotel. They had fond memories of working on Garnpan station out north east of Mildura but gradually came south with work until settling in the Beeac - Colac area where they both had family close by.

Fred & Dorothy 

1942

Fred met Dorothy Walkley when he and his brother Don and this young lady became members of the Avoca branch of the "Odd Fellows Lodge". Dorothy was working as a housemaid then cook at the "The Avoca Hotel".  After their courtship & marriage, they lived at Red Cliffs where Fred worked on the vines; and George was born there at Mildura.  Later they shifted back to the farm at No 1, where Fred worked for the forestry before shifting to Eldorado where they owned the bakery. Wangaratta came next where they both worked and lived in the back of the baker’s van until Alan arrived with a load of timber and the Twins came over and the garage frame went up one weekend - a roof over themselves while Fred built their first house. After some years they shifted to Kangaroo Flat where Fred worked at the Bradford Knitting mill & they ran a poultry farm as well until the opportunity came to sell the property and shift to Crusoe Rd where Fred built again. Next came a big shift down to Melbourne where Fred again built their home in Hex St Tottenham while also working for the PMG. After 15 years or so they had had enough of the Big Smoke and were happy to retire to Harcourt (poultry again) then Spring Gully, Bendigo; where Fred passed away from a failing heart aged 63 years on the 23.10 1976. 

Fred married Dorothy May Walkley in 1942, One child: George Edmund b 1943.

  Pam & George  Dorothy & Fred, 1964

George married Pamela (Pam ) Merle Hanley in 1965, who was born in 1945.

Their children: Eileen Maree b 1967, George Fredrick b 1969, Tony Andrew b 1971, Rhonda Margaret b 1973, Myra Ann b 1978 & Geoffrey James b 1981.


Fred & Don having a cuppa , farming at No1


                  Alex & Anne, 1946

Anne worked at "Gnips" shop in Avoca, where she also looked after the owners 3 children. Later she worked in Melbourne doing domestic work until the start of WW11, when she joined the WRAAF. It was during this time that she met Alex. 

Anne & Alex married at Avoca after the War years, before shifting back to Donald where Alex worked at Moran & Cato's for many years. The children were all born there, later on they moved to Caulfield South where they owned & run a Milk Bar in Balaclava rd. While here, Alex had a heart attack while coming home from night shift, and passed away quite suddenly. 

After a time Anne bought the family home in Trevellyan St Elsternwick and it was here that she met Eric, a widower who lived nearby. Their home at Clontarf, a suburb of Brisbane came later as they shifted north to enjoy their extended family.

Anne married Alfred Alexander (Alex) Mcllvena in 1946. Their children: Genevieve Anne b 1948, Bruce b 1953 and Lorraine Joy {Joy) b 1956.

Alec died in 1965. Ann remarried in 1973 to Eric Rawlings. 

Eric died on 8.8.1988 and Anne died on 3.5.1993.

Mr & Mrs Payne, Lyndee, Graeme & Genevieve, Anne & Bruce

Genevieve married Graeme Robert Payne in 1967.

Their children: Christopher Robert b 1967, Gregory Keith b 1971 and Lyndee Lorraine b 1975.

Lyndee married Graeme Weinberg on the 24.12.1994.

Bruce married Marsell Stanberry in 1979. One child: Stephen James b 1979. Marsell had a child Adrian from a previous marriage, sadly Adrian died in 1998, as the result of an accident.

Bruce & Marsell are separated.

Joy married Kym Grocke in 1982. They have one child: Joshua Kane b 1975 from Kym’s first marriage.

     Greg, Lyndee & Graeme, Kym, Bruce & Chris, Joy & Josh in the front.

Eric grew up around Avoca. He did a stint in the army but didn't serve overseas because of foot problems. Eric stayed with Nellie & Hazel each weekend when home during those war years and was a real friend and grown up brother to Hazel. He even rode in the rodeos at Avoca (run by the Red Cross to raise money for the war effort)  Later he cleared the farm block down near Irrewillipe and set up the dairy farm out in the Stony rise country out from there. He & Ivy  had about 20 cats (“to keep down the tiger snakes”, I was told!) and the cows had to nearly shift the rocks to get at the grass! It was not an easy place to make a living; Eric was the youngest of the brothers & sisters to die, aged just 57 years,  in the winter of 1974.


          Ivy & Eric

Eric married Ivy Myrtle Cust; there were no children by this marriage. Eric died on 12.8.1974 aged 57 years. Ivy was previously married and had 7 children: Doreen (Mrs Pearce), Faye, Les, Cyril (dec), Coral (Mrs Firth), Shirley (Mrs Blair) and Alexander. Ivy died on the 3.6.1984.


Eric Mum & Bob

Robert & Walter (Bob & Wal), known in their younger days as the "Terrible Twins", I don't know why? but twin boys.... 

Neither of the boys married but lived together most of their lives as the best of mates. 

During the War years was the only time that Bob & Wal were really apart. Both joined the Army but then other events took over; Wal spent the war years in the transport group in South Melbourne where due to the severe fuel shortages, all carting between camps was by horse and cart. Bob was shipped north to Darwin (2/40th Battalion) and then overseas to Singapore; at some stage he & many other soldiers were captured by the Japanese and he was one of Weary Dunlops lads in Burma.

Farming was very important to them as was the Murray River; they loved it and its fishing; certainly their properties at Yarrawonga were a pleasure to visit.

They shifted to Bendigo and lived out their days with eldest sister Nellie; their garden there was also a joy to see. Bob died on 8.12.1981 aged 63 years and Wal in 1983. 

Isabelle was the youngest in the family and she was only 16 when her Dad died and then just 18 when her Mum died of a burst appendix. Although the family only lived 8km from Avoca, no phone or car was available to enable help to come quickly.  


That same year, while working in Melbourne, she met her cousin Alan, a romance blossomed and they were married while Alan was in the army. His initials were AWL and apparently there were times when he was!; Isabelle & Alan & 3 month old baby Pat were finally able to leave Melbourne in 1944 where Alan had been working for Hendersons Federal Springs, after leaving the Army. In a furniture van which used a charcoal gas producer, they took all day to drive up the Hume to Euroa and on up to Strathbogie, where they rented a house and the new saw mill was established. Later on Alan rode his old push bike back to Melbourne to pick up the old car (a Singer) and drive it back. With the small allocation of petrol coupons available, he was able to start it on petrol and then turn it over to run on power Kero. 

Sawmilling was a major part of Alan's work for over 20 years until he took up interstate truck driving in about 1964. In 1970 the family home at Euroa was sold up, relatives visited and the trek north to Jimboomba QLD was made. Here Alan, Isabelle & their youngest daughter Helen lived in a small caravan while they built the house on their 8 acres of land high above the Logan river. Eventually Alan was pleased enough to stop the interstate truck work but poor circulation was beginning to take its toll on his health. 

Isabelle married Alan Walton Leerson in 1941, who was born in 1919. Their children: Patricia Dawn (Pat) b 1944, Mervyn John (John) b 1945, Kevin Dale b 1947 ( Kevin died as a result of an accident in 1949), Raymond Charles (Ray) b 1950, Colin Leslie b 1951, Geoffrey Alan b 1952, and Helen Lynette b 1956. Alan died on the 12.3.1986 aged 66 years.

Pat married Maurice Rupert Dash in 1964, who was born in 1941. Their children: Vicki Teresa b 1965, Ian Maurice b 1967 and John Stanley b 1969. Pat and Maurice were divorced in 1986. 


Isabelle, Rodney & Vicki

Vicki married Fabian Mario Abbatangelo in 1983, who was born in 1963. Their children:  Rodney George b 26.5.1987 and Ryan Samual b  8.5.1998.

Ian married Kerry Ann Bunker on 4.3.1989, who was born on 31.7.1967. Their children: Jason Ian b 10.10.1988, Brett John b 28.12.1990 & Jamiee Renae b 16.3.1995.

John from his earliest days worked with chain saws & bull dozers, from Mansfield to Noojee, from Mt Beauty to the coal fields of QLD.  John like his great Uncle Albert before him has had a passion for mining and spent about 3 years on a gold mining lease at Rushworth (Vic). He’s presently living & working on his own 200 acres of bush country east of Toowoomba QLD.

Ray married Danyce Mary Diggle in 1974. Their children: Julie-Anne b 1977 and Damian Garrett b 1980.

Colin went to Brisbane looking for work when he was about 16 & and has rarely been south of the border since. He started work in the Fruit & Vegie market in Rocklea, but later moved to the far north, working on the Greenvale Nickel mine railway line project, at Weipa and later on Prawn trawlers fishing out of Normanton on the Gulf. His work with track cranes, mobile cranes & pile driving equipment has been extensive and he has now based himself at Nth Maclean where Mum lives. Presently doing up an old “Inter” & caravan to head off around Australia.


Geoff, Michelle & Danielle, 1996

Geoff married Susan Cameron in 1975, who was born in 1952, Geoff and Sue were divorced in 1980. 

Geoff remarried on 30.3.1984 to Michele Gouyet (from Jersey U.K) who was born in 1964. Their child: Danielle Claire b 23.5.1995. Geoff and Michelle presently live on Jersey.

Helen had a daughter Amanda Joy in 1970, who was then adopted. Helen married Selwyn Charles Harman in 1975, who was born in 1950. Their children: Kathleen Michelle b 1975 and Alan Charles b 1978.

Helen & Selwyn divorced on 8.11.1991.

Kathy and Dwayne Treble had a son Raymond John (Ray) b 2.3.1994

Kathy & Lance have a daughter Megan b 14.9.1999
Albert Leersen

    Uncle Albert in Uniform

Albert was born on the 21.9 1874,  He died at the Repat hospital in Heidelberg, Vic; a short illness on the 6.9.1952, aged 77. He is buried at Avoca.  He never married but was a loving Uncle to his many nieces and nephews.  Not one to shy away  from hard work, he took on water drilling  throughout the Mallee, and into South Australia, enlisted in 1914 at the age of 40, and saw service in Flanders as a  private in the 39th Battalion. I'm told of how there was a captured German soldier there who was Albert's double. Neither could speak the others language, but they most certainly could have been first cousins. Albert was a tank maker in the Mallee during the 1930’s and  it was probably then that he bought his beloved  T model Ford ute, which he  owned all his days. Gold mining was his passion but there was no big 'find'.  Many of  Albert's mementos are at the Dunolly museum.

His right eye had a slight droop,  so you notice that usually one eye is turned from the camera.

            Uncle Albert, his T model Ford & some little helpers

Annie Castleman & her family

3 Generations: Mary Jane, Annie & baby Jim

Annie was born on  17.7 1876 and died on the 28.6.1955 aged 79 years at Avoca.



She married James  (Jim) Henry Castleman in 1901, who was born on the 4.7·1865 and who died on the 23.12.1940 aged 75 years. 

As a young girl Annie used to help her brothers out checking the sheep on the hills above home. Her Father ran the sheep there with the  consent of the Adam's who then had the squatter’s lease. In return, the Adams used his property and yards at No 2 for the annual round-up. Annie well remembered the annual round-ups with all the station staff in  attendance, open air cooking etc.

Because the hills were so steep Annie had to ride the horse astride; no problems! until some of the locals spotted her. It caused quite a stir: 'that bold hussy Annie Leersen'' By the time Annie was married in 1901, Ladies riding astride was a much more fashionable and common sight. 

Annie and Jim looked after the property at No 2 before moving into mining at Moonambel (then a company mining town).  Later on, they and their growing family went farming at Warramang before buying the newsagency at Carisbrook.

The Castleman children in 1914

rear: Jim (11) & Beat 9 years

Teed (6) Ray (2) & Linda 4 years

Their children: James Henry (Jim ) b 18.6.1902  Beatrice Cecilia b 2.8.1904, Edward George (Ted) b 16.7.1907, Linda Mary b 17.7.1909, Raymond Eric b 1912 and Victor Vernon (Vic) b 1.8.1914.

    Beat & Charles Cullip  1967


Jim & Minnie,  1981

Jim married Minnie Elizabeth Newell in 1928 who was born on 27.10.1909.

Their children: Henry James b 1928, Betty Lorraine b 1931, Edward John  (Ted) b 1933, Mervyn Benjamin b 1935,  Annie Margaret b 1938, Reginald Raymond (Reg) b 27.10.1940 and Kenneth Maxwell b 1942, who died in 1945. 

Jim died on 1.10.1990 and Minnie on 12.2.1993.


Graeme, Alan & Lorraine


Margaret, John, Ernie & Betty

Betty  married Ernest Alfred (Ernie) Robinson in 1950, who was born in 1922.

Their children: Margaret b 1952, John b 1954, Graeme b 1955, Lorraine b 1958 and Allan b 1961.

Margaret married David Greenwood in 1972, who was born in 1951. Their children:

Diane b 1973, Craig b 1975, Donna b 1979  and Matthew b 1984.

Diane has a daughter: Jennifer b in Dec 1990.

Lorraine married Peter McErvale in 1979, who was born in 1957. Their children: Sallyanne b 1981, Suzanne b 1983, Jason b  1985, Samantha b 1987.

Susanne has a daughter Alisha b  1997.

John married Amanda  (Mandy) Carter in 1985 who was born in 1966. Their children: twin girls: Stacey Louise & Danielle Elizabeth b July 1986, Bianca Jade b 1990, Alisha Brooke b 1992.

Graeme married Gyan Kumuri in 1985, who was born in 1969. Their children: Michael Ernest William b January 1987, Melissa b 1989 and Rachael b Dec 1993.

Allan married Sarish Kumuri in 1989, who was born in 1973. Their children: Christopher b Feb 1991, Sharon b Aug 1992, and Jessica b Sept 1993. 

        Back row: Leslie & Carol, Jack Dunstan & Trevor Robinson

                    Middle: Kelly-Anne D & Annie Dunstan

           Front: James D, John Robinson, Lorna & baby Daniel



Anne & Jack Dunstan’s family

Anne married Jack Dunstan in 1960.

Their children: Lorna Maree b 1961 and Leslie George b 1965.

Lorna married Trevor John Robinson in 1981.

Their children: John William b 5.9.1992 and Daniel Louis b 28.8.1998

Leslie married Carolyn Maree Carter in 1986

Their children: Kelly-Ann Maree b 1986 and James Leslie b 13.8.1990.

Reg married Raewyn Christina Shepherd on 22.2.1964, who was born on 2.4.1943 and they live in New Zealand. Their children: Jennifer Susan b 21.1.1969 and Robyn Joanne b 6.8.1971.

Jennifer married Michael Peter Green on 15.12.1990. 

Their children: Shane Michael b 22.4.1991 and Jessica Robyn b 29.7.1992.

Jennifer & Michael were divorced in 1997.

Jennifer and Ian Wright have a daughter Georgia Christina Wright b 15.4.1999.

Robyn married Colin Edward Lever on 20.2.1993.

Their child: Renee Jennifer b 22.4.1996. Robyn and Colin were divorced in 1999. 

Beatrice married Charles William Neil Cullip in 1924, who was born on the 14.6·1888. 

4 Generations Annie, her daughter Beatrice Cullip, her daughter Brenda & her son Neil.

Charles died on the 26. 3.1969 aged 80 years. Beatrice died on the 23.2.1985 aged 80 years. Their children: Shirley Elizabeth b 1925, Brenda Margaret b 1926 & Alwyn Laurel b 1929

Dad was a returned soldier from WW1 who later on settled back to being a sawmiller at Avoca before the family shifted to St Arnaud in 1931 when their youngest child Alwyn was about 2. He ended up managing 3 mills for another chap until he had a fall at one of the mills and it seemed the right time for a change; a big change. While Alwyn stayed behind in St Arnaud having just married Malcolm, the township of Moe was starting to boom in 1950 and there was the opportunity to start a grocery shop in a new part of town. Dad had a good mind for figures and with Mum's help they made a good go at it until retiring from the shop in 1965/6 when Dad was 76 years old!. 


Shirley & Geoff  1951

Shirley married Geoffrey Joseph Whelan in 1951, who was born in 1926.

Their children: Peter Charles b 1951 and Daryl Francis b 1953.

Geoff did rouseabout work near Longreach QLD, before meeting Shirley & settling down in Moe, working for the SEC for 24 years as well as helping out in the family shop. Caravaning was a great pastime and they travelled extensively throughout Australia.

Geoff died on the 25.11.1996 from emphysema after a gallant recovery from a stroke in 1991 to a point where he could talk & walk short distances again. Shirley is so grateful for the tremendous support from her family which enabled her to have Geoff home again and be able to look after him.


Danielle, Peter & Katie, Amie & Gail

Peter married Gail Maree McKenzie on 31.10.1993, who was born on 20.10.1953. Gail has 2 children from a previous marriage; they are Danielle Maree b 14.1.1974 and Amie Maree b 25.9.1981. Peter and Gail have a daughter Kaitlyn Maree (Katie) b 25.3.1994 

Adam Gray, Daryl with Bryce on his knee (Jan 1998)

          Brendan Gray, Sandra with Geoffrey on her knee

Daryl married Sarah (Sandra) Henderson on 6.10.1990, who was born on 19.4.1951. Sandra has 2 boys from a previous marriage; they are: Brendan  James Gray b 1973 and Adam Richard Gray b 1976. Daryl & Sandra have 2 children: Geoffrey Johnstone b 24.5.1992 and Bryce Francis b 14.7.1994.



Richard & Brenda

Brenda married Richard Gerald Gray in 1947. Their children: Neil Edward b 1948, Trevor Richard b 1950, Margaret Anne b 1955 and Craig Thomas b 1964.


Back row: Sean, Neil & Veronika, Paul


front row: Anthony, baby Haylee and Jennifer.

Neil married Patricia Dunlop in 1971 Their children: Sean Bradley b 1974 and Paul Cameron b 1977. Neil and Patricia were divorced in 1981. Neil remarried in 1982 to Veronika Koehler. Their children: Jennifer b 1983 and Anthony Neil b 1985.

Neil died in Nov 1993 from asbestosis, contracted from working as a high voltage electrician with the SEC. All the family have pitched in to help Veronika, particularly Neil’s youngest brother Craig. 

Sean has a daughter Haylee Elizabeth b 16.7.1993 and who has been most successfully raised by Dad, with lots of help from Gran and Haylee’s Aunties.



Trevor & Vera

Trevor married Sarah (Sandra) Henderson in 1972. Their children: Brendan  James b 1973 and Adam Richard b 1976. Trevor & Sandra were divorced in 1989.

Trevor remarried in 1992 to Vera Maliko.

Margaret married Wayne Spencer Wilkinson in 1975. Their children: Debra Kelly b 1979 and Christopher Wayne b 1980.

Debra has a son: William David b 5.6.1998.


Debra & son William, Wayne & Margaret

Craig married Veronika Gray in 1999; they have a child: Felicity b 3.2.1999.

Alwyn (Al) married Malcolm William Gifford in St Arnaud in 1949, who was born in 1922.

Their children: Helen Lorraine b 1950, Bruce William b 1953 and Roger Malcolm b 1956.  

Alwyn was 2 years old when the family shifted to St Arnaud. After her schooling was completed, she got a job at O'Gilpins variety store in town, (which later became Foy & Gibson's). Alwyn married Malcolm when she was 20 and they shifted onto the farm out at Rostron where they reared their 3 children. Netball, football & church were important aspects of growing up there and Alwyn held every office position in the local branch of CWA but still found time to be quite involved in Mother's clubs at both the primary & secondary school. She was also well known as a great cook.

It was a terrible blow to all who knew her when she was diagnosed with cancer in October of 1979 and died 2 months later on the 3rd December aged 50 years.

Malcolm remarried in 1983 to Dorothy May Francis Baker from Bendigo,  who was born in 1941.

            Graeme, Helen, Cameron & Jacinta Fernandes

Helen married Graeme Fernandes in 1972. Their children:  Cameron Graeme b 1975 and Jacinta Ann b 1977.

Roger married Christine Maree Anderson in September 1979, who was born in 1960.

Their children: Naomi Jane b 1980, Maree Danielle b 1982 and Kimberly Alwyn b 1987.


Christene & Roger, 


Maree, Kimberley & Naomi

        Bruce & Jenny Gifford 

        with their Daniel & Kate

Bruce married Jennifer Anne Kershaw in 1985, who was born in 1962. Their children: Daniel William b 1989 and Kate Elizabeth b 1993.

Edward George (Ted) born 16.7.1907. Died at the age of 16 years of meningitis at St Arnaud on 5.7.1924.

            Linda  1935

Linda: a much loved Aunty to her many nieces and nephews; who enjoyed a long and successful career in Commerce before retiring to Avoca, her home town; where she renovated an old cottage into a lovely home. She did some research into the family name in Germany while on a buying trip for the company quite some years ago and was very uneasy about Russia’s influence over Finland, which she was visiting at that time. Linda died on 3.7.1988 and is buried at Moonambel.

Raymond married Nellie Graham in 1941. Ray died in 1964 aged 52 years while Nellie died in 1993.

Ray and Nellie had one child Sandra. 

Sandra married Terry Kelly. Their children: Adam Raymond b 1975 and Trent Daniel b 1980.


Vic & Belle


Jim & Annie (about 1940)

Vic married Isabel ( Bel) Gladys Paton in 1940, who was born in 1920.

Their children: Alan James b 1941, John Robert b 1943 and Russell George b 1951.

Vic died in 1994 aged 80 years.

Alan married Beverley Dawn Turner in 1965, who was born in 1940.

Their children: Narelle Bronwyn b 1967 and Nadia Cherie b 1968.

John married June Lois Ager in 1965, who was born in 1944.

Their children: Lisa Jane b 1968, Steven Anthony b 1970 and Anthony Dean b 1973.

John and June were divorced in 1982.

John remarried in 1984 to Monika Kroll.

Steven married Tracey Elizabeth Shaw on 1.10.94, who was born on 18.1.1967.

Anthony married Helline Pederson on 15.7.1995, who was born on 7.2.1969.

Lisa married Ron Carey on 30.1.1996. 

Their children: Rachel June b 17.5.1996 and Ryan James b 3.2.1999.

Russell married Susan Jane Elizabeth Allen in 1975, who was born in 1954.

Their children: James Allen b 1982 and Beth Michelle b 1984.

Ciss James & her family

Ciss & Tom, 1907

Mary Cecelia (Ciss)  was born on 9.8.1879, and died at Bendigo on the 29.6.1975, aged 95 years.

A much loved Mother and Aunty, she married John Thomas (Tom) James at Avoca in 1907. They lived in Melbourne for the first six years with the three eldest children being born there at home in Preston.  A shift to Bendigo followed, Tom working as a linesman with the then fledgling P.M.G and who was away quite a lot. The rest of the children were born here at Bendigo. In the late twenties, a move was made to Mincha, north of Pyramid Hill, where Tom worked on the State Rivers in what was then a thriving dairy centre with its own butter factory. It was while here that their eldest daughter Annie died, just after the birth of their third child.  Annie's children came on up to Mincha, and were cared for by their Grandmother, the eldest two for 3 years, until their Father remarried, while the youngest (Gordon) was raised by Mary Cecelia, as her very own. The job at Mincha finished up as the depression of the 1930’s deepened and a final move was made back to the outskirts of Bendigo, where at Eaglehawk, on a couple of acres a new start was made. Tom built their two bedroom mud brick cottage, which still stands today. Gold mining supplemented the family income and with their vegetable garden kept them busy and got them through. 

Tom was born in 1876 and died in 1960 aged 84. 


Iris, Reta, Daphne, Ollie, Harold  & Trevor

Their children: Annie b 1907, Valmai (Val) b 1909, Iris b 1911, Reta b 1914, Daphne b 1916, Olive b 1918, Harold Thomas b 1921 and Trevor Richard b 1923.

Annie married Leslie Charles Lillyst in 1926,  who was born in 1902; Les died in 1969 aged 67 years. Their children:  Joy Lesley b 1927, Albert Hamilton b 29.2.1928 and Gordon James b 1930. 

Annie died soon after Gordon was born. Leslie remarried in 1933 to Vera Ellen                 , returned and collected the two eldest children Joy and Albert from their Grandmother.

Joy Lesley married James Robinson, lives in Queensland. No children and we haven’t heard from them.

Albert married Marie Towers in Dubbo in 1960 who was born on 4.7.1938. 

Their children: Karen Maree b 1966 and Gregory Hamilton b 1967. 

Bert and Marie had a flock of 400 Angora goats near Dubbo at one stage before shifting to Dunedoo where they also ran the Newsagency. They have retired back to near Dubbo and are busy helping out with their grandchildren. 

Karen married Gary Cronin of Dubbo.

Their children: Stephenie b 21.5.1997 and Bryce b 10.12.1998.

Greg married Tanya Maree Olwyn Marskell on 6.10.1990, who was born on 4.12.1963.

Their children: Makalia b 31.5.1996  and are expecting another child in 1999.

Gordon married Barbara Beckett after serving in both the Korean war and the Vietnam war. They have 7 children:  Louise Lynette b 1966, Monique Bernadette b 1967,  James Lesley Thomas b 1968, Juanita Terese b 1969, Rebecca Texine b 1971, Texas Benedict b 1973 and Dallas Rio b 1967.

Gordon loved the Queensland climate and enjoyed working with cattle.

They were in divorced in about 1981 and Gordon died in 1992 from cancer and is buried at Winton. 

Barbara has remarried and is now Mrs Taylor of Mt Morgan.

Louise m Derek John Brasher. They had a son Jai b 1984. They are divorced and Louise is married to Steve Waters of Townsville.

Monique m Wayne Pattel.

Their children: Jasmine b 1985 and Hope b 1987. Monique & Wayne are divorced.

James lives at Emerald and is the father of 2.

Juanita has a daughter Jessie b 1991. She is married to Neil Adams of Nambour. They have a son Torey b 1996 and are expecting another child in late 1999.

Rebecca has 2 children: a daughter Shane b 1994 and Reuban b 1996. She is engaged to Noel of Nambour.

Texas m Carmel Parker in 1994, who was born in 1971. Their children: Damien b October 1996 and Demi b Nov 1997. Texas currently works on a property of 300,000 acres about 200km from Winton where he and the boss look after up to 10,000 cattle in a good year.

Dallas & Rachael McIntyre of Winton have a daughter Tahlia b 1996.

    Reta, Val, Mum, Bob Fieldew, Marie, Gordon & Dad

Val  worked in Melbourne before meeting Bob Fieldew; afterwards they lived in quite a number of places, starting off married life in Mincha, which then boasted a butter factory and quite a lot of employment. Later on, they lived at Euroa, Shepparton, Broadford where Bob sold insurance or did other work. In later years, Bob started to loose his sight so Val went to night school and learnt carpentry, so she could fix “things”. I remember seeing some nice furniture that Aunty Val had made.

   Val holding her great grandson Hayden

  proud parents Louise & David looking on.

Val married Robert Henry (Bob) Fieldew in 1934 who was born on the 27.12.1898 and died on the 7.11.1975. Their children: Marie Valmai b 1935 and Doreen Anne b 1942.

Marie married Evan (Eddy) Morgan in 1963, they had one child: Louise Robyn b 1971.

Marie died on 16.3.1997 after a courageous  but short battle with cancer aged 61.

Louise married David Deanne Evans on 24.11.1996, who was born on 16.6.1969.

Their child: Hayden Robert b 21.9.1998.

Doreen married Barry Boodle in 1965. They have two children: Nicole b 1968 and Andrew William Robert b 30.12.1971.

Doreen & Barry are divorced.

Andrew married Joanne Verhoeven on 1.5.1998, who was born on 10.9.1971. Andrew works for the RACV and they live in Melbourne.

Nicole married Malcolm Pruys on 29.10.1998, who was born in May 1970. All going well, they are expecting a daughter Charlie on or about 15.11.1999.

Iris married Arthur Richard Garth in 1932, who was born in 1888. Arthur had a son by a previous marriage: Richard Arthur Garth. Iris and Arthur had one child: Royston (Roy) Neil b 1934.

Roy married June Bloomfield in 1953, who was born in 1932. They have two children : Sherryn Marie b 1956 and Darren Roderrick b 1960.

Sherryn married Paul Adrien Skinner in 1978. Their children: Megan Leanne b 1981 and Rebecca Jane b 1983.

Reta married Richard Arthur (Dick) Garth in 1934, who was born in 1906.

One child: Evan Graeme b 1936. Richard died in 1975, aged 69. Reta died in 1983, also aged 69 years.

Evan married Pat Kiker, who was born in 1937.  Their children: Dale Evan b 1961, Della Marie b 1963 and Wesley Thomas b 1968.

Dale married Janine Moon in 1985, who was born in 1961.

Their children: twins Nicholas James & Vanessa Maree b 6.12.1989 and Meghan Maree b 29.12.1994.

Della married Murray Sutton in 1987, who was born in 1962.

Their children: Bridget Maree b 11.9.1990, Ainsley Maree b 26.6.92 and Madison Maree  b 6.12.1994.

Wesley married Sarah Ogley.

       Val, Iris, Daphne & Ollie, Trevor behind (June 1985)

Daphne married William (Bill) Smilie in 1945, who was born in 1904. Bill died in 1972 aged 68. Their children: Edward (Ted) Harold b 13.8.1947, Ellen Mary b 1950, Kathleen (Kate) Daphne b 1952, William Walter (Wally) b 1953 and William Murray (Murray) b 18.4.1958.

Ellen has a daughter Fiona Gaye, who was born on 22.2.1968. Later Ellen married Stewart Alan Pell in 1969, who was born in 1948. Their children: Sharon Ann b 25.3.1970, Roslyn Gaye b 11.10.1971 and Steven Edward b 19.3.1978.

Sharon married Edmond Thomas Reilly on 15.2.1992, who was born on 11.3.1961. 

Their children: Brandan James b 14.3.1996 and Xavier Thomas b 9.112.1997.

Rosslyn married Mark Winterton on 16.3.1996, who was born on 26.7.1966.

Fiona has a son Christopher Darren William Collins, who was born on 23.4.1990. Fiona married Craig Stephen Elder on 21.3.1997, who was born on 21.1.1966. Their child: Matthew Craig b 6.9.1998.

Ted married Ella Kathie Holt on 2.1.1971, who was born on 21.8.1945. Their children: Daryl Kenneth b 4.2.1972, Cathryn Leanne b 11.11.1975 and Bryan Llewellyn b 3.3.1988.

Cathryn and Graham Slyvester have a daughter Larrisa Ashley b 5.1.1999. Graham was born on 16.9.1969.

Kate married David John O’Neil, who was born in 1939. Their children: Cynthia (Cindy) Anne Elizabeth  b 18.7.1970 and Tracey Jane b 30.3.1973. Kate and David are divorced. 

Kate remarried on 10.2.1979 to Keith Arthur Loftus, who was born on 11.5.1952.

Keith had two children by his first marriage: Kim Maree b 17.10.1972 and Karen Melissa b 4.4.1974.  Kathleen & Keith’s children: Stephanie Joan b 6.2.1980 and Belinda Grace b 28.2.1982.

Cynthia married Stephen Melor on 11.1.1992, who was born on 29.10.1968. Their children:  Carter William b 15.1.1996, Adriene Jean b 15.12.1997 and  Jessie Lee b 3.6.1999.

Tracey married Carl Williamson Stockel on 12.10.1997, who was born on 24.4.1965. They have a son Brodie O’Neil b 13.5.1995.

Kim married Stephen Brian Shorback on 3.10.1992, who was born on 8.3.1968. Their children: Matthew Jake b 21.12.1994 & Ashley Stephen b 2.6.1997.


 Robert, Wally, Michelle, Paul & Marlene, 1999

Wally married Marlene Anne Flight in 1976, who was born in 1957. Their children: Michelle Kelly b 1976, Robert William b 1979 and Paul William b 1983.

Murray was adopted by William James & Dorothy Maria Ross in 1958. Murray was christened William Murray Ross. He married Julie Anne Jackson in 1983, who was born in 1961. They were divorced in 1996. They had no children.

Olive married Frank Leslie Bayes in Melbourne in 1942, who was born in 1914. Frank died in 1984, aged 70.  Their children: Brian Leslie b 2.6.1943 and Margaret Anne b 19.12.1951.

Brian married Pauline Welsh in Melbourne in 1965. They have 3 children: Stephen Leslie b 12.2.1966, Mark Leslie b 15.3.1967 and Christopher Leslie b 28.2.1970.

Brian & Pauline are divorced and Brian is living in Melbourne.

Mark married Rozanne Herft in Melbourne on Grand Final Eve 1991 and they now reside in Brisbane now that he has finished playing with the Sydney Swans. They have 2 children: Mikhela Deidre b 1.4.1996 and Jesse Jordan b 29.6.1998.

Stephen married Carolyn Gallagher in Bendigo on New Years Eve 1997. They have 1 child, Lily Grace b 13.9.1999 and live in Torquay, Vic

Christopher Lives in Melbourne

Anne  married Colin Haddon. They have 2 children: Nicholas Ashley b 1978 and Jacqui Anne b 1980.

Anne married Colin Haddon in Melbourne in 1978 and they live in Alice Springs, NT. They have two children Nicholas Ashley b 7.9.1978, now residing in Newcastle, NSW and Jacqui Anne b 15.1.1881 living with them in The Alice.

Olive married Vincent Ryan in Melbourne in January 1990 and has resided in Charlton since that time. 

As far as I know, Dad (Frank) was born in Broken Hill, NSW, the youngest in a family of five. (He had four older sisters). His father and other family members worked in the Railways. He was a keen sportsman from an early age and appreciated all different sports. I believe he worked in the building trade as a very young man and somehow ended up working in a mine somewhere near Captain’s Flat in NSW during the Depression. I have heard from him that he used to play one code of Rugby in Canberra on a Saturday and then the other on a Sunday, along with fitting in a bike race to earn a few extra “quid” in between. He served overseas in Borneo in a Signals outfit in WWII.  He and Mum lived in Middle Park until about 1950 and he was working with a  Paper/Cardboard Manufacturing Company in South Melbourne. The Company then bought land near Oakleigh and moved their operations. To entice some of their employees to make the move with them, the company bought some house blocks in virgin scrubland a stone’s throw from the new factory and sold them to those employees at a reduced rate. In fact Mum and Dad had to cut through scrub to find their block. They were, therefore, the first residents in the street! They first lived in a “house” they built which we called the “hut”. It was no bigger than a garage and the bedding folded up against the walls to allow living space. They eventually built the house that is still standing on the block. Dad continued to work at that factory until ill-health finally forced his retirement in the late 1970’s. Continued ill-health saw him in and out of hospital until his death in Heidelberg Repatriation Hospital in 1984.

Harold Thomas died as a Prisoner of War in Malaysia in 1944.

Trevor married Beryl Constance Alder in 1946 who was born in 1920. Their children: Terry Richard, b 1947,  Roderick b 1948, Colin Leslie b 1950 and Carol Anne b 1951.  

Trevor and Beryl are separated.

Terry married Robyn Kidd. Their children: Stuart b 1973, Nicholas b 1975 and Jonathan b 1978.

Terry & Robyn are divorced.

Roderick married Kim Julia Navickas on 9.8.1987, who was born in 1966. Their children: Thomas Allen b 1988, Sandra b 1989 and Samuel b 1990.

Colin married Margaret Mooney in 1976. Their children: Christopher Leslie b 1985 and Erica b 1988.

Carol married Ronald Francis Christy in 1968. Their children: Tanya Jane b 1969, Darren Francis b 1970 and Kate Ann b 1979.

Tanya married Michael Tori in Junee, who  was born on 29.5.1963.

Their children: Jack Michael b 20.9.1995 and Harrison John b 6.1.1997.

Darren married Shelley Dawber in Deniliquin, who was born on 18.4.1972.

Their children: Jessica Maree b 10.6.1994, Brittany Grace b 6.6.1996 and Rebecca Ann b 11.11.1998.

Harry Leersen & his family

Anthony James Henry (Harry) was born on 12.1.1883.

He died on the 21.5.1960 aged 77 years.

        Harry & Millie on their wedding day in 1909.

Harry married Amelia May (Millie) Fraser 1909, who was born on the 2.5.1889. Millie was the younger sister  of Anne Ellen Fraser (Mrs Fred Leersen). Millie died on 11.10.1951 aged 62 years.

Although Harry was only 11 years old when his Father died, he helped to work the farm at No 2 creek. Harry and Millie were married there, and had 8 of their children there before his Mother died in 1921.

In September of 1924, just before Len was born, Harry and his eldest son Roy, who was only 15, set out for the Mallee and were amongst the first selectors of that now famous Millewa wheat growing district. After Len was born, the farm at No.2 was sold to Jack and Mary Barnes (nee Burns) and  all the family shifted north to near Lake Cullulleraine, west of Mildura. Neil, Harry's youngest son farmed there until quite recently.

Harry and Millie's children :  Roy b 1909, Vera May b 1910, died on the 27.12.1916 aged 6 years after a short illness,  Henry b 1912, Clarrie b 1914, Albert b 1919  lived only 8 days, Keith b 21.10.1917, John James (Jack) b 1919, Ella May b 1921, Leonard (Len)b 1924, Iris b 1926 and Neil Stanley b 1928.

Harry & Millie & all the family) leaving No2 in about 1925 for the Millewa. (I wonder how long that trip took!, 4 hours would now get you close with bitumen roads and modern cars)

        Neil, Don Frazer, Iris, Harry, Len & baby Kaylene in the front.

Roy was born in Avoca in 1909 and moved to Lake Cullulleraine in 1924 where he helped clear the land and worked the farm. He also worked making channels with the horse & scoop throughout the Millewa district. He married Rene in 1935 & worked at Red Cliffs Engineering in the early 1940's. About this time he obtained his Engine Drivers Certificate by correspondence as well as share farming at Werrimull until 1948. As well as the farm he worked for the State Rivers & Water Supply Commission (SWRSC) for 4 months each year, helping with the water run out to the farms; this lifeline having started back in 1926 providing precious water for both stock and home use. Roy & Rene and their growing family moved to Lake Cullulleraine in 1948, where Roy worked full time for the SRWSC at B Sub until 1954 when work shifted them all down to Nyah where Roy worked until his retirement in 1974. I remember him saying that the big steam driven pumps were tremendous in action and the farmers were not dependant upon the electricity supply.

Roy & Rene with Ken & Beryl’s  children (about 1974).

Dad loved working on his wood lathe and made many things including furniture, including a lamp stand made from a piece of the old mulberry tree out at the old family farm at No 2. He also loved shooting but would not shoot a duck on the water. He would take as many as 10 - 15 men out; my brother in law & I would usually go and Dad would always ask me to "lift" the ducks. I clearly remember on one occasion when I fired a single barrel and Dad a double barrel - resulting in 29 ducks. He caught foxes and made up rugs from their fur. Dad was also a lover of fishing - especially black fishing which we enjoyed together on his holidays in Tasmania. He suffered a heart attack and passes away in Nyah West hospital on 19.4.1984.

Mum was born in Mildura in 1916 and lived at Lake Cullulleraine on her Father's farm and worked for Grandma Leersen until she married Roy in 1935.

Mum loved her garden & cooking and she always seemed to have hot scones on the table for a cuppa. 

Mum loved to have people call in for a chat and made anyone most welcome. 

One of my early memories of Mum was when she was driving he horse & cart to Werrimull. As she neared the town, the train whistle blew and frightened the horse, when then bolted through the streets!; fortunately trains where not all that common.  Another incident that has remained very fresh in my memory was when the brakes gave out as Mum was driving into the garage and the car went straight through the back of the shed!. Mum passed away at home from a heart attack on the 31.8.1995 aged 79.

Thanks to Ken for these fond memories of his parents.

Roy married Irene(Rene) Hammence in 1935, who was born in 1916.

Their children: Joan b 1936, Kenneth Roy (Ken) b 1937, Gwendoline b 1939, Maisie b 1941 , Ronald James b 1943, Leslie Murray (Bluey) b 1944 and Bryan Henry b 1953·

Roy died on the 19.4.1984 after a long illness.  Rene died on the 31.8.1995

Joan married John Guy 1956 who was born in 1936. John died in 1975, aged just 39.   

Their children: Wayne Geoffrey b 1956, Colin James b 1957 and Carolyn Joy b 1958.

Carolyn had a daughter Rochelle Samantha b 1973, who was adopted by John & Terese Dutton of Melbourne.

Carolyn married Peter Anthony Byrne in 1976. Their children: Lucinda Anne b 1976, Demelza Joan b 1978 & Quentin Jon b 1986. Carolyn & Peter have separated.

Wayne married Helen Fiona Smith of England.

Their child: Rebecca Daisy (Daisy) b 15.8.1988. Wayne & Helen are divorced.

Colin married Elizabeth Clee in 1983 who was born in 1953.

They children: Louise b 28.4.1983, Daniel b 4.12.1987 and Andrew b 27.11.1990.

Graeme, Beryl, Philip, Kenny, Susan, Robert at Phillip’s wedding Nov 94

Ken married Beryl Ann Shipton in 1963,  who was born in 1944. Their children:

Robert Roy b 1966, Graeme John b 1968, Susan Ivy b 1971 and Phillip Kenneth b 1972

Susan and Lance Smith have a daughter Kristy b 4.8.1987.

Susan married Leigh Stone on 5.9.1992. Their children: Michael Roy b 17.7.1991 and Graeyme b 28.12.1993. They have since separated. 

Robert has a daughter Suzanne Lorraine b 29.9.1991, who now lives with her mother in Canberra.

Philip married Jo-anne Monica Miller on 26.11.1994


Rear: Jenny, Ernie, Mark, Sharon, Annette, Russel & Gwen


Leigh & Peter, baby Jack and Renee

Gwen married Ernie Blandthorn  in 1961, who was born in 1936. 

Their children: Mark Anthony b 1962, Russel James b 1963, Sharon Lee b 1964, Jennifer May b 1965 and Annette Gaye b 1971.

Sharon married Anthony Robert May in 1985 who was born in 1959.

Sharon and Anthony are divorced, no children from this marriage.

Sharon married Mark Wells in 1996, who was born in 1962.

Their child: Jack Marcus b 14.2.1996.

Jennifer married Christopher Leonard Rabl in 1985, who was born in 1959.

Their children: Peter Leonard b 5.1.1989 & Leigh Patrick b 12.6.1990.

Annette married Stewart Rhodes in 1993, who was born on 19.3.1962.

Annette & Stewart are now separated.

Russell married Lorna Campbell in 1989, who was born in 1966.

Their child: Renee Louise b 20.6.1989.

Maisie married Kevin George Saville in 1961 who was born in 1936.

Their children: Garry Lee b 1964, Jeffrey Kevin b 1967 and Joanne Louise b 1970.

Gary married Maureen Terese Hall in 1991, who was born in 1961.

Their children: Darcy Leigh b 1993, Rhyley James b 1995 & Etham Garry b 1997.

Jeffery married Lisa Joy Gleeson in 1993, who was born in 1969.

Their children: Hayley Renae b 1994, Declan Jeffery b 1996 and Milly Rose b 1998.

Ron married Lynette Joy Butcher in 1970 who was born in 1949. 

Their children Kerrie Leanne b 1970, Peter John  b 1972, Brendon Anthony b 1974 and Nicole Joy b 1977.

Kerrie married Gerard Belleville.

Their children: Maddison Anne b 1995 and Georgia Rose b 1998.

Peter married Michelle Connelly on 27.2.1999.

Bryan married Pamela Cook, in 1985, who was born in 1961. Pamela had one child Deanne b 1983. 

Their children: Christopher George b 1986 & Benjamen Roy b 1988.

Bryan and Pam are divorced.

Henry was a member of the 9th RFTS, 2/43 Battalion during WW11. He & Jack lived for many years out the back of the Strathbogie Ranges, in that cold country where the weather is measured in 2 jumper days and 3 jumper days!. However he met and courted a widow from down the road called Betty. It had been many years since small church of Boho had seen a marriage, that when they were married in 1961, even the TV media attended; it was quite an occasion. 

Henry married Betty Cotterill of Strathbogie in 1961, Betty had a son Ron from her previous marriage. Henry died on the 10.4.1971 aged 59 years and is buried at Euroa.

Clarrie was also a member of the 2nd AIF (WW11). He was working with Henry & Jack when he tragically died as a result of an accident while falling trees in the Strathbogie ranges out from Euroa on the 5.5.1951, aged just 36 years. Clarrie is buried at Euroa.


Glennis & Keith

Keith married Ellenora Glenice Moll in 1940, who was born on 20.12.1918.

Their children: Thelma Olive b 14.8.1941, Wesley Graeme (Wes) b 19.9.1942, Reginald Phillip (Reg) b 27.10.1943 Colin John b 20.1.1945, Shirley Eleanor b 10.4.1947 and Margaret Enid b 20.2.1952.

Keith died on the 30.11.1988 and Glenice on the 1.9.1992.

Thelma married Barry Richard Crabbe on 18.5.1963, who was born on 27.3.1942.

Their children: Richard Glenn (Ricky) b 27.8.1964, Leanne Vicki b 19.4.1966, Kerry Thelma b 6.9.1967, Brent Steven b 28.10.1975, Dannielle Louise b 2.4.1977 and Geoffery Wayne b 24.4.1979.

Ricky married Veronica Margaret Harley on 22.3.1986, who was born on 30.5.1960, They have twins: Emma Elizabeth and Jamie Richard b 26.9.1990.

Leeanne married Joseph Andrew Gallagher in October 1985, who was born in October 1962.

Their child: Tamara May b 1986. Leeanne & Joseph were divorced in Dec 1988. 

Leeanne & Alan Waylen (who was born on 13.1.1957) have a son Cody Alan b 8.10.1997.

Kerry & Jeffery Peter Andrews (who was born on 5.7.1960) had two children: Ashley Marree Andrews b 28.11.1989 and Jayden Peter Andrews b 17.5.1994. Kerry & Jeff separated in 1997. 

Wes married Margaret Anne Hodge (nee Wilson ) 19.10.1968, who was born on 6.11.1937.

Margaret was previously married to Phillip Harold Hodge, now deceased. There were two children by this marriage Karen Margaret; b 8.5.1962 and Phillippa Therese b 12.12.1963 



Martin, Margaret, Phillipa, Karen & Travis, 1993

Wes and Margaret’s children: .Martin William Eric b 16.8.1969 and Travis Wesley John b 19.9.1970.

Wes and Margaret were divorced in 1983.

Martin died on 23.3.1998.

Wes remarried in 1983 to Wendy Lee Holt, who was born on 22.5.1953.  Wendy had one child  Anthony b 16.6.1972. Wes and Wendy’s child : Jonathan Keith b 29.6.1984.

Karen married Mark Trehern in Perth in 1986.

They had one child Kaela Karen b 11.12.1986.

Karen and Mark are divorced.

Phillippa married Brendan Joseph Walker: in 1984.

Back: Wes, Alan Pearce, Tamika & Travis, Chris Schroeter

Middle: Wendy & Brayden, Jonathan & Phillipa.



Front: Cassandra & Kaela

Their child: Cassandra Margaret b 19.12.1986. Phillipa & Brendan divorced in  1989.

Phillipa & Chris Schroeter married on 20.2.93.

Their children: Brayden Chris Wesley b 8.6.94 & Tamekya Dulcie .b 31.10.1995

Phillipa & Chris have seperated.

Travis and Tara Robinson have a daughter: Cheryl Lee b 1991.

Reg married Muriel Kaye Swan on 10.6.1967 who was born on 7.5.1947. 

Their children: Gary John b 28.2.1969, Timothy Craig b 17.5.1970, Kylie Susan b 2.5.1973, Darren Peter b 10.11.1975 and Gavin Christopher b 11.3.1978.

Gary married Samanatha (Sam) Jane Rhodes on 12.1.1991, who was born on 25.8.1972.  Their children: Kane Robert b 19.6.1990, Abbie Lee Patricia b 2.4.1992, Tayla Jane b 27.9.1995 and  Gerrard John b 9.4.1998.

Timothy & Charmaine Ardley have a son Braden b 26.5.1993.

Kylie is engaged to Darren Garroway.

Colin & Marie & flowergirl Sharyn

Colin married Marie Elizabeth Burns on 2.7.1983, who was born on 7.1.1945. Marie had two children by a previous marriage: Anthony b 8.2.1971 and Sharyn b 14.4.1973.

Colin and Marie had a daughter Jennifer who was still born on the 20.3.1984. Marie died on 17.8.1993 from cancer.

Shirley married Stanley Charles Davis on 26.4.1969, who was born on 1.1.1942,

Their children: Shane Andrew  b 29.9.1969, Michele Lee b 29.12.1970, Tracey Joanne b 9.3.1975 and Gaylena Joy b 14.1.1979.  Shirley and Stan were divorced in 1980.

Shirley’s partner is Alan Pearce.

Shane married Tracey Lee Johnstone on 13.10.1990, who was born on 20.11.1969. Their children: Jake Andrew b 9.3.1991 and  Arron Leigh b 6.6.1992. Shane and Tracey were divorced in 1995.

Shane and Dee Reed have a son Tommie Jaye.

Michele and Shane Harris have a son Jayden Lee b 14.1.1997.

Gaylena and Andrew Pratt have a son Kale Andrew b 6.12.1997.

Tracey and David Griffith are engaged and plan to marry on 18th December 1999.

Margaret married Trevor Raymond Pye on 11.7.1970, who was born on 16.8.1948·

Their children: Bradley John b 7.1.1971, Jason Andrew b 18.8.1972 and Glenn Rohen b 15.9.1974

Bradley and Dallas Chedgey have a daughter Sammara Jade b 28.4.1990.

Bradley and Selena Clarke have a daughter Tarelle Lee Pye b 1993.

Bradley and Donna Lamb have a son Wylyn Raymond Barry Pye b 1998.

Jason and Glenda Heron have a son Charley Trevor Pye b 1998.

Glen married Sophie Dirkje Andrea Makkink on 24.11.1995, who was born on 11.2.1959. They have a son: Kyle Tyrone Makkink-Pye b 7.9.1995. Sophie’s other children are : Kirsty b 1979, Renae b 1980 and Benjamin (Ben) b 1990.

Jack never married; rather he & Henry lived for quite a number of years out the back of Strathbogie (sheep farming supplemented by shearing). Later he shifted to a small property near Beechworth. He died on the 25.8.1969 aged 49, as a result of a car accident just north of Wangaratta and is buried near two of his brothers in the Euroa cemetery.



Bill & Ella

Ella married William (Bill) Leslie Higgins in 1943, who was born in 1924.

Their children: Daryl Leslie b 10.2.1944, Arthur Melville (Mel) b 19.10.1946 and Marilyn Amelia b 25.9.1952. Bill died on 18.10.1998

Mum & Dad started out as Home Missionaries at Lima East (about half way between Benalla & Mansfield) in 1948 and stayed there about a year before shifting to Trentham.  From one of the coldest spots in Victoria, their next shift was to one of the hottest at Underbool where Dad was called as a minister in the Methodist Church.  Over the years many other parish's followed: Wycheproof, Drysdale, Wonthaggi, South Yarra, Eltham, Nathalia, Murchison & finally Seymour. Dad finally retired from there from full time service in 1989 aged 65 years and they settled down amongst friends in a very special part of the state near Drysdale.

From this new home base they loved to get in the Campervan, go fishing and bird watching & especially to visit their children and the wider family as far north as QLD. Bill passed away while assisting in a Sunday evening service near Drysdale. Over the years they touched many thousands of lives in their ministry of caring for people in God's name and Mum still does what she can in the Nursing home at Queenscliff where she now lives.

Daryl: married Kathleen Joyce (Kath) Roache on 19.6.1965 who was born on 25.8.1946. 

Their children: Allyson Kathleen b 26.10.1968 and Rebecca Louise b 14.4.1971


Kath, Allyson, Rebecca, Daryl, Ella & Bill

Daryl did his automotive apprenticeship in Melbourne but he was very much a country boy and spent quite a lot of time with his Uncle Jack Leersen (who then lived near Beechworth) and grew to love the area. Before Jack’s untimely death (from a car accident), he and Kath had made that big step and moved to Beechworth and they set up home there while Daryl developed his garage & continued getting his aviation licences. With Daryl’s appointment as Chief Pilot Instructor to Wimmera Aero Club, they lived at Hamilton & Horsham for quite some years until 1995 when they were pleased to relocate back to Beechworth, find work and build their new stone house. Both Kath & Daryl are delighted to have Rebecca, Donald & family living near by and now hope to have Allyson, Paul & family shifting back to the area soon.

Allyson married Paul Bernard Crimmin on 20.6.1992 who was born on 15.3.1969.

Their children:  Amy Kaitlyn Rebecca b  7.6.1990 and sons: Billy Paul b 9.2.1993 and Conor b 12.6.1998. 

Rebecca married Donald Currie in 1994 who was born in 1970.

Their children: Isabella Grace b 30.11.1995 and Esme( Sian b 3.2.1998.

Lisa & Jodi, Marylin in insert

Mel married Lee Gangell on 27.12.1969, who was born on 8.8.1946. 

Their children: Rowan b 22.9.1973, Adrian b 8.8.1975 and Kate b 12.7.1977.

Mel initially worked in the Bank before going back to University and completing his studies to become a teacher (initially with the Gould League & now in the Eltham area with primary students); Lee used to be a Kindergarten teacher but now she trains others in this valuable work.

Marylin met Malcolm Michael when they worked together in the Housing Commission in Melbourne.  After their marriage they lived at Macedon before shifting to QLD and setting up a business there.

Their children: Lisa Nicole b 17.8.1973 and Jodie Narie b 4.12.1976.

Marylin and Malcolm are now divorced.


Jessica-Lee, Tony & Nathan  (1998)

Lisa married Tony Michael Sutton on 2.11.1991, who was born in 1969.

Their children:  Jessica-Lee Jody b 24.4.92, Nathan Anthony b 20.5.1998 and Demi-Rose Victoria b 29.7.1999.


      Len & Shirley 1999

Len grew up out at Lake Cullulleraine and farmed out there with brother Neil as neighbours for many years until they decided to sell up and shift into Red Cliffs in the 1970’s where plenty of other work and the raising of their 6 children has kept them very busy (even now in their retirement years, with all but Kay living close by).

Len married Shirley Lillian Armsden in 1957, who was born in 1936. Their children:

Kaylene (Kay)June b 1959, Raymond (Ray) Leonard b 1961, Trevor John b 15.2.1965, Jeffrey Alan b 1968, David Andrew b 1970 and James Norman (Jacko) b 1973.


   Michael & Kay  (1977)

Kay married Michael Roden in 1977, who was born in 1955.

Their children: Jeremy John b 1980, Lisa Joy b 1982, Brenden James b 1984.

Ben holding Kate, Janine & Daniel, Ray & Sean


        Luke in the front

Ray’s first marriage was to  Heather Telford.

Ray later married Anne Lesley Martin in 1986, who was born in 1962.

They were also later divorced.

Ray married Janine (nee Murray) Hagen in 1997, who was born in 1957.

Janine has a son Benjamen Murray Hagen (b 6.12.1983) from a previous marriage.

Ray & Janine’s children: Luke Raymond b 2.8.1991, Sean Douglas b 1.3.1996, Kate Louise b 1.3.1998 and Daniel Anthony b 27.6.1999.
  Jeffrey & Samantha, Matthew, Roslyn & Emma

Trevor married Carolyn Louise Pederson in 1990, who was born on 11.7.1968.

Their children: Jarrod Anthony b 23.10.1996 and Bradley James b 5.10.1998

        Trevor & Bradley, Carolyn, Jarrod

Jeffrey married Roslyn Coral Murray in 1991, who was born on 16.7.1967.

Their children: Matthew Jeffery b 29.8.1992, Emma Jade b 4.1.1996 and Samantha Jane b 2.8.1998.

        Isabella with her parents: David & Janine

David married Janine Maree Gordon in 1992, who was born on 27.7.1970.

Their children: Isabella Jane b 27.11.97.

Jacko is engaged to  Carmela Lamanda (who was born  in 1970). They are anticipating marrying in the year 2000.

 Jacko (James) & fiance Carmela Lamanda


rear: Peter, Meredith, Pam, Michael, Des & Vince


front: Kaele, Anthony, Jarrod & Iris     30.1.1994

Iris married Desmond (Des) Robert Armsden on 30.1.1954.

Their children: Pamela May b 13.11.1954  and Peter Robert b 14.1.1958.

Pamela married Vinzenzo Pasqualie Dichiera on 3.5.1975.

Their children: Michael Anthony b 5.6.1976, Anthony John b 2.2.1984.

Peter married Merideth Anne Williamson on 19.4.1980.

Their children: Jarrad Robert b 11.10.1985 and Kaele Edward b 13.3.1987.

   Karen, Steven & Benjamin

Neil married Ailsa Thelma Pillar in 1957, who was born in 1935.

Their children: Gregory Neil b 1958, Ian James b 1961 and Steven John b 1970.

Neil grew up out on the family farm at Lake Cullulleraine and after he and Ailsa were married, they farmed there and raising their 3 boys in the clear dry air of the Northern Mallee. 

In recent years they have sold the farm & moved into Mildura, they certainly enjoy visiting their far flung family from Proserpine (QLD) to Berri (SA).


Back row: Stephen, Ian & Gregory, front: Neil & Ailsa








Greg & Raylene








with Christopher


Ian & Tonia

Gregory married Raylene Ann Sill in 1987, who was born in 1964. Their child: Christopher Neil b 7.10.1987.

Ian married Tonia May Staniland in 1990, who was born in 1963.

Their children: Deanne Bonnie b 26.9.1991, Petrina May b 8.8.1993 and Stanley Ian b 22.9.1995.

Steven married Karen Lee Yale in 1994, who was born in 1968. Their child: Benjamin James b 4.9.1997.








left - right








Petrina, Stanley & Deanne

Charlie Leerson & his family

Charles Herbert (Charlie) was born on  24.2.1885.  He was 9 years old when his Father died, and it was at about this age then he got away on his own with the blunderbuss used to shoot down parrots in the orchard - a job his Mother was quite good at. Apparently Charlie put too much powder in, and the gun exploded; taking three fingers off one hand. Obviously quick work by someone at the house that day saved his life.

At the age of twenty he visited his brother George in W.A. Perhaps it was whilst coming back from WA. that he came to be working for a farmer named Kretchmere, who lived at Candos not far from Pinnaroo, SA. The farmer had gone blind with sandy blight and so it was that their eldest child Sophie Elizabeth, was doing much of the farm work.

Charlie & Sophie with Ann (LHS), Alex on her knee, then Ron, Gwen & Jean,  


(Prooinga) 1917

Charlie married Sophie in 1907, who was born on 9.8.1891. They had eleven children, when Sophie died on the 16.12.1935. The youngest child (Doreen Joyce) was just eighteen months old, and with her elder sister Margerite , they were cared for by their recently married sister Jean for quite sometime. 

Their children: Gwendolyn Margaret (Gwen) b 1908, Ann b 1910, Jean b 1912, Ronald (Ron) b 1914, Alexander (Alex) b 1917  Alan Walton b 1919, George Fredrick (Fred) b 1921, Henry Douglas (Doug) b 1927, Charles Herbert (Charlie)b 1929, Margarite Elizabeth b 1931, Doreen Joyce (Joy) b 1934.

Two years later Charlie, who was then fifty two, married Susanna May (Mary) Good.  Their children: Yvonne Valmai b 1937 and  Mavis Annie b 1939.

Mary later married Cliff Sands on 2.10.1965. Cliff died from a stroke on 8.6.1981 aged 69 years.

Charlie died on 27.6.1960 at the age of 75 and is buried at the Euroa cemetery.

Ron Borchard on Charlie Leerson’s stables

Gwen & Les would have grown up together at Pooringa and after their marriage, lived both there and at East Cocumba along with their 9 children, doing it hard in the Great Depression, trapping rabbits by the thousands but thriving on the hard work and what a joy to later have electric lights, hot water and especially water for a garden. Later they owned a fruit block at Nyah.
Neil, Les, Rita, Marg, Joyce, June, Frank, in front Betty & Mum




Gwen & family 1991

Gwen married Leslie John Borchard on 25.10.1930, who was born on 18.6.1903. Les died on the 5.10.1983 aged 80 years. Gwen died on the 18.4.1992 aged 83 years.

Their children: Leslie John (Les) b 28.1.1931, Rita Dawn b 1933, Ronald Desmond (Ron) b 1935, Frank b 1936, Douglas b 1937 (still born), Amy Elizabeth Gwendoline (Betty) b 1940, Margaret Ann b 1942, Eileen Joyce (Joyce) b 1945, June Marie b 1947 and Alexander Neil (Neil) b 1949.

Les married Joy Rutherford on 16.12.1952, who was born on 26.12.1934. 

Their children: Leigh Norman b 11.1.1955, Robin Wayne b 20.5.1956, Annette Joy b 21.10.1959, Lois Dawn b 9.3.1961 (& who drowned on 9.8.1962) and Colleen Gwenda b 17.3.1963 (adopted).

Les has had a long association with inventing & fixing machinery, from the “post lifter”, to making field bins & augers, to working & selling most sorts of farm machinery. Thanks Les to for all the 

work you have done on the Borchard book.

Annette, Leigh & Dianne, Bernadette & Robin, Colleen, Joy & Les in front

Annette m Mark Osmond Ingham. Their children: Shaun Osmond b 10.11.1984 and Terance (Terry) b 29.9.1987. Annette & Mark are divorced.

Leigh m Dianne Elizabeth Whitburn on 8.2.1974, who was born on 30.4.1954.

Robin m Bernadette Mahoney on 9.4.1983  who was born on 3.9.1958.

Their children: Sarah Kimberley b 8.7.1980, Robin Luke b 12.3.1982, Glen Travis b 14.9.1991 and Trent Keegan Zachiah b 1.5.1995.

Colleen Gwenda m Drew Burns in 1993, They have 2 girls: Connor Texas Borchard-Burns b 8.5.1994 & Carter Tuson Borchard-Burns b 18.1.1996.

Rita went to school at Cocumba East & Manangatang, and started nursing there before shifting to Melbourne, where she later met Dudley, who was a shearer. They share-farmed later on at Manangatang before getting their own place at Vinifera in 1961, combining pig farming with the shearing.

Rita Dawn b 11.3.1933, married Dudley Page on 5.3.1955 who was born on 2.3.1932.

Their children: Gary Douglas b 5.8.1956, Ronald Geoffrey b 31.3.1958, Neville Raymond b 28.1.1960, Janice Maree(Maree) b 12.11.1962.

       L-R, Gary & Maree in front, Robyn & Neville, Rita, Ron & his bride Susan, Dudley, Janice & Dale



children in front are: Rebecca, Nicole, Mark & Christopher.





Rita & Dudley & their family (1994)

Janice m Dale Robert Bray on 21.4.1984 who was born on 31.7.1959.

Their children: Nicole Elizabeth b 20.3.1987 and Mark Robert b 9.2.1989.

Gary m Maree Krygger in June 1984 who was born on 24.7.1959.

Their children: Christopher Dudley b 17.3.1986 and Rebecca June b 18.5.1987.

Neville m Jenne Clarke on 9.3.1985. Neville & Jenne were divorced in 1989. Neville remarried on the 24.4.1993 to Robyn Williams, who was born on 8.3.1961. Their children: Jason Daniel b 22.3.1988 & Benjamin Scott b 29.5.1991.

Ronald m Susan Williams on 3.12.1994 who was born on 30.10.1962.

Ron grew up on the farm at Cocumba East and all he wanted to do, was to farm it with his beloved wife Iris and to raise their children there. Alas, it was not to be, Ron & Iris had less than 14 months together before he passed away within months of Rhonda being born, on 5.5.1957 (of cancer).

Ron b 13.6.1934, married Iris Lillian Byrent on 10.3.1956, who was born on 3.11.1934. Their child: Rhonda Joy b 10.1.1957


Max, Gwen (Nan), David & his bride Rhonda, Iris & Peter (1990)

Iris remarried on 23.6.1962 to Kenneth Frank Wilkinson, who was born in 1934. Ken died in 1988.

Iris & Ken had 2 boys: Peter Kenneth b 1.9.1963 and Maxwell Graham b 30.4.1965.

Rhonda m David Cattanagh on 6.10.1990, who has several children from a previous marriage.

John Francis (Frank) b 26.6.1935, married Vernice Hazel Rogers on 3.12.1955. Their children: Darren Ross (Ross) b 16.4.1963 and Kent Bryson b 2.3.1970.

Frank & Vernice were divorced on 29.10.1985.

Frank remarried on 9.1.1986 to Dianne Senini. 

Dianne has 2 children from her first marriage:  Justin b 1.6.1971 & Adrian b 11.4.1982, Frank has adopted both boys into the Borchard family.

Frank joined the police force in 1955 after finding that an asthmatic problem prevented him from working on the farm. He went on to study law and now has a successful practice as a solicitor in Melbourne.

                 Justin & Kathy, Adrian, Frank & Dianne, insert: Ross & Kent

Ross m Christine Magdalena Shaefer on 21.1.1995. Their children: Tessa Margarite b 26.7.1995 & Kimberley b 17.2.1997. Ross is now a High School teacher.

Kent m Merran Leonie Waterfall on 11.6.1994

Kent works in Real Estate.

Justin m Kathy DeBaize. Their child: Corey Matthew b 7.7.1995. Adrian is now an apprentice to Justin as a painter & decorator.


Rear: Sharyn behind Rodney, Ken, Jo & Peter

middle: Alana, Lauren, Daniel & Betty, Christene & Erin, 



Matthew in front.



Betty, Ken & Family (1993)

Douglas b 4.6.1937, was stillborn.

Betty started school at Cocumba East and Manangatang too before the family shifted into Nyah. Later she worked for the Forestry Commission until marrying Ken.  They farmed at Vinifera until 1972 when they made a large change of direction, sold up and shifted to Traralgon where they are still involved in a licensed grocery business.  Peter is a baker in Churchill while Jo works in the shop. Rodney was with the “which Bank” for 20 years (inc up in Darwin) but they are now back in Traralgon too and helping out as well. 

Betty b 8.2.1940, married Kenneth (Ken) McLean 25.10.1958, who was born on 5.12.1934.

Their children: Peter Kenneth b 24.11.1959, Joanne Louise b 28.3.1961 and Rodney David b 19.1.1963.

Peter m Christine Fehlberg, who was born in 1960. Their children: Matthew Peter b 1988 and Erin Bernice b 1991.

Rodney m Sharyn Paul on 17.12.1988, who was born in 1964. Their children: Alana Antoinette b 1989, Daniel David b 1991 and Lauren Amy b 1993.



Craig, Trevor & his bride Liz, Marg & Tony and Marianne, (1992)

Margaret Anne b 4.12.1942, married Anthony Lewis (Tony) Lauer on 29.4.1961, who was born on 25.9.1935.

Their children: Marianne b 20.3.1964, Karen b 9.11.1965 (who died at birth), Trevor Roy b 6.9.1967 & Craig John b 25.4.1969.

Trevor m Liz May Hayden in March 1992. Their children: Ashley Lewis b 12.1.1993 and Jesse b 2.10.1994.

Marietta, Joyce & Merv, Sharon & Justin behind

Joyce did her schooling at Manangatang then Swan Hill when Mum & Dad shifted into Nyah. Joyce worked as a shop assistant until meeting & marrying Merv. They have lived all their married life at Nyah West while Merv worked at Laurers Motors, Woorinen Fruit Growers & Vernons. They also ran the draper shop for 10 years.

Eileen Joyce (Joyce) b 26.9.1945, married Mervyne John (Merv) Pyatt on 1.2.1964, who was born on 9.8.1940.

Their children: Marietta Joy b 12.9.1966, Sharyn Narelle b 16.1.1969 and Justin Mathew b 5.9.1972. 

Marietta m Donald Butterworth in 1986. Marietta and Donald are now divorced. Marietta and William Marshall have a daughter: Wallis Gillian b 8.11.1995.

Sharyn & Andrew Clifton have a daughter Alyx Sandra b 26.8.1997.

Justin and Kylie Duch have a daughter Tylah Jade b 29.11.1996.

       June & Gavan  Claire, Sean & Kerry

June Maree b 17.6.1947, married Gavan James McGennisken on 13.11.1971, who was born on 13.11.1946.

Their children: Kerry Ann b 10.7.1973, Claire Marie b 8.10.1976 and Sean Anthony b 10.10.1977.

June has great memories of her early days at Cocumba East & Nyah. She later worked at the Forestry Commission Plant Nursery at Wail & met Gavan about this time. Since they were married, they have lived on the wheat/sheep farm out at Laharum North. Here they have raised their children in one of the best environments, on a farm & near the Grampians.


      Carla, Neil & Nicole

Neil Alexander b 7.6.1949, m Susan June Wilson on 6.6.1970, who was born on 19.3.1950. Their children: Carla Jane b 1.6.1973 and Nicole Ann b 1.7.1975.

Neil & Susan were divorced in 1980. 

Neil's partner is Lorraine Brown.

I remember Neil as a strong lad who could throw a tennis ball further than anyone I’d ever seen.

He later worked for his brother in law Tony on the farm before becoming an auto-electrician.

Ann married Fredrick John (Fred) Monk on 6.12.1929 ,who was born on 14.4.1904. 


Mum & Dad were married at the John Knox Presbyterian Church, Swan Hill. They had their wedding breakfast on the banks of the Murray River then caught the train to Melbourne for their honeymoon. It was the start of the Great Depression; Dad told me that the bag they put the wheat in cost more than what they received for the wheat!.

     Anne & Fred on their 60th Wedding anniversary

They started their married life on the farm at Annuello (north of Manangatang) clearing mallee & burning it before digging the stumps out. Then they prepared the land for crops or grazing, we always had sheep, cattle, pigs and of course the team of horses until Dad bought a Ferguson tractor, which he later used in contract work.


Dad had a lot of Rheumatic fever so he was sick quite a lot; through it all Mum kept the family together. We lived there at Annuello for about 11 years before shifting to another farm near Manangatang where Dad had a helper called “Silly Jack”; one Saturday Mum brought home some chocolate laxettes, rather a change from our weekly dose of Epsom salts. Well they disappeared and so did Jack (for 2 days!). The water channel cut through a high sandy hill on the farm and we delighted to slide down it until Dad got into trouble with the channel men. 


Later on they went share-farming before trying out dairying (share-farming again) and with this work moved all around the state. They saved what they could and bought a fruit block at Invergordon where they grew pears & peaches finding picking time the toughest; Mum worked in the cannery at Shepparton as well. I never heard them complain, only to occasionally wish for more money to help out their kids with, still we had their love and they were always there for us, what more could one want. 


Mum & Dad retired to their place at Nyah where we had some great family parties and Mum delighted to walk Mac (the dog) along the river. She used to be a very strong swimmer and had saved 3 people from drowning while still in her teens; to me she was always a heroine, a warm, loving & giving Mum. Towards the end, it was sad that they couldn’t have been looked after in the same place, but Mum was in a home at Robinvale while Dad was in the hospital at Nyah West.

Thankyou Mum & Dad for a job well done     Aileen

back row: Robert, Jean, Kaye, Jan, Isabelle & Edward

        front row: Aileen, Fred, Anne & Dot   (1974)

Their children : Aileen Elizabeth b 26.1.1931, John Fredrick b 13.11.1933, Dorothea Ann b 15.1.1935, Jean Mary b 14.11.1936, Edward Charles (Eddie) b 4.6.1940 Amy (Isabelle) b 1.7.1942, Robert James b 18.1.1944, Janice Elsie b 30.3.1946 and Kaye Maree b 20.12.1951.

Fred died on 9.10.1992 and Anne died on 7.7.1994.

      Aileen & Laurie (45th Wedding anniversary)

Aileen married Lawrence (Laurie) George Turner in 1953, who was born in 1930. Their children: Susanne Maree b 1953, Cheryl June b 1955 and Karen Elizabeth  b 1959

Susanne married Stephen Ronald Smith in 1974, who was born in 1951. They have one child: Vanessa Stacey b 1974. Susanne and Stephen are divorced.

Vanessa married Ian Anderson, who was born in 1956. They had one child: Madeliene Jayne b 1993. Vanessa & Ian are divorced. Vanessa’s partner is Anthony Kelso; 1 child: Tyler James b Port Hedland 

           Tina, Karen, Peter , Tara in the front

Cheryl married Ian Leslie Brown in 1972, who was born in 1952. Their children: Stuart Nathan b 1973, Nicholas Cory b 1975, Natalie Patience b 1976 and Michael Wade b 14.3.1987.

Karen married Martin Hislop in 1978, who was born in 1959. Their children: Tina Aileen b 1979, Peter Martin b 1981 and Tara Rosanne b 1986. Karen & Martin are divorced.

John married Hazel Dorothy Hunter in 1958, who was born in 1938. Their children: Vicki Maree b 1.8.1959, Roslyn Leanne b 30.12.1960, Debra Lynette b 10.9.1962 and John Royce b 22.4.1975.

Vicki. married Kenneth John Clowes  on 1.5.1982 who was born on 25.7.1959, Their children : Nicole Maree b 17.4.1985 and Matthew Dean b 3.6.1987.

Roslyn married Robert Franklin (Frank) Turner on 30.4.1983, who was born on 6.11.1959.

Their children: Lauren Sheree b 24.7.1987, Alisha Jade b 5.5.1989, Jake Brenton b 7.5.1992 and Katelin Louise b 30.9.1996. Roslyn & Frank separated in 1997.

Debbie married David John Tyquin on  3.11.1985  who was  born in  22.2.1965.

Their children: Calvin Lee b 1.6.1987, Jaclyn Danae b 5.1.1989 and twins Alanna Brittany & Hayley Elise b 14.2.1992.

John married Gemma Louise Rentsch on 21.3.1998 in Kerang, who was born on 1.3.1977

Their children: Sinead Alexandra b 29.5.1998 at Echuca,  Madeleine Louise b 29.4.1999 in Deniliquin. 


Back row: Rick & Chris

    front: Deborah, Marty & Dot, Michelle

Dot married Martin (Marty) Berg in 1957 who was born in 1929. Their children: Frederick Martin (Ricky) b 1959, Deborah Ann b 1964, Christopher Cyril 1970 and Michelle Elizabeth b 1972. Marty died on 2.2.1992 from cancer.

Ricky married Patricia (Trish) Louise Lewis in 1982. Ricky and Trish are divorced.

Ricky remarried on 23.1987 to Sylvia Helen Padden from Devon, England. Sylvia was born in 1959.  Their child: Mathew Martin Eastaway b 1989.

Deborah married Andrew Jonathan Challon in Swan Hill, who was born in Chelsea in 1952. Their children: Ashley Lenton b Swan Hill in 1992 and Rochelle Ann b Swan Hill in 1995.

Christopher married Michelle Glenda Yard in Swan Hill on 20.12.1997. One child: Jaide Deborah b in Melbourne.

Michelle married in Swan Hill to Jeffery Mark Paddon, who was born in Exetor, Devon England in 1967.

Jean married Reginald John (Beau) Forster in 1957, who was born in 1931.

Jean died on the 10.3.1987 after a long and courageous battle with cancer. Their children: Norman John b 1959, Robert Andrew b 1960 and Stanley Wayne b 1962.

Norman married Vicky Maree Fitzgerald in 1978, who was born in 1960. Their children: Mathew John b 1978, Lauresa Maree b 1980, and Teina Judelle b 1982.

Robert married Janine Lawry in 1981, who was born in 1960, Their children: Kristie Maree b in Swan Hill in 1983, Jacquelyn Kate b Nyah West in 1986 and Bradley Michael b Nyah West in 1989.

Stan married Wendy Lynne Stewart in 1983, who was born in 1963. Their children: Holly Lynne b 1984, Kelly Jean b 1986. Stan and Wendy are divorced. 

Stan remarried to Jacqueline Kaye Maree Harcoan, who was born in Mildura in 1964. They have 2 children: Bohden Samual John b Swan Hill in 1991 and Cameron Dustin James b Mildura in 1993.

    Pat Leerson-Dash, Val Monk, Alex & Isabelle Leerson, Eddie Monk

Eddie married Valda Lorraine Mutton in 1961, who was born in 14.4.1942. Their children: Wayne Edward b 1962, Daren Robert b 21.3.1965 and who died 14.12.1965,  Steven Andrew b 1968, John Charles b 1970 and David James b 1971.

Steven married Kylie Michelle Hassell in Wagga Wagga.

Isabelle with grandsons Paul & Joshua

Amy (Isabelle) married Melville (Mel) Alan Forster in 1960, who was born in 1937. Their children: Geoffrey Allan b 1961 and Andrew Malcolm b 1963. Isabelle died from an asthma attack in September 1995. 

Geoff married Colleen Patricia 0’Shannassy in 1980, who was born in 1960. Geoff died tragically as a result of a truck accident near Kerang on 6.8.1987. 

Geoff and Colleen had two sons: Paul Jeffrey b 1982 and Joshua Michael b 1985.

Colleen has remarried to Daryl Robert O’Bree who was born in Nyah West in 1961. They have one child: Aliesha Jayne.

Robert married Eileen Patricia Lyons in 1969, who was born in 1951. Their children: Shane Robert b 1970, Bradley William b 1972, Kylie Elizabeth b 1973, Leigh Matthew b 1977 and Karalyn Anne b 1978.

Janice married Bernard Edward (Tex) Bennett in 1964, who was born in 1931. Their children: Gregory Peter b 1965, Mariane May b 1966 and Sandra Joy b 1968. Jan died on the 20.4.1999 after a long and brave battle with cancer.

Gregory married Sharon Louise  at Tyntynder Homestead, who was born in 1966 at Swan Hill. 

Their children: Sharlene Louise b Kew in 1982, Andrew Gregory b Swan Hill in 1991 and Brodie James b Swan Hill in 1993.
Sandra married Steven Benfield in 1985. Their children: Lisa Maree b 1987 and Justin Steven b Swan Hill in 1989.

Mariane married David Langdon at Mildura in 1997. One child: Nathaniel David b Mildura in 1998.

Kaye married Evan Hunt in 1971, who was born in 1945. Their children: Phillip John Alfred b 1972, Anmaree Eliza b 1974 and Jason Evan b 1976.

Anmaree and her partner Mathew Ryan (who was born in 1972 have a daughter Sophie Lea Hunt b Swan Hill in 1992 and a son Zachery Mathew Ryan b Swan Hill in 1998.

Jason and partner Julie Cary (who was born in 1978) have 2 children: Joshua Evan Hunt b 1997 in Swan Hill and Laetitea Brianna b 1998 in Swan Hill.

Jean married William (Bill) McGrath in 1934, who was born in 1910. Bill died on 7.11.1986, after a short illness. Their children: Valerie b 21.8.1937, Rosmary b 11.10.1942, Brenda b 9.9.1945 and Wendy b 28.2.1949. Jean died on 15.2.1999.

Valerie married Charles E. Smith on 17.11.1956, who was born on 14.3.1932. Their children: Jenefer b 1.5.1958, Pauline b 9.10.1959, Terence b 28.12.1961 and Raymond b 30.12.1963.

Jenefer married Alan Linsay on 16.12.1978 . Their children: Rebecca b 24.10.1980 and Steven b 22.3.1983.

Pauline married Ronald Linke on 14.3.1978. Their children: Ben b 10.9.1978 and Kelly b 24.10.1980.

Terence married Lynda Shears on 21.7.1984, who was born on 14.7.1963.

Raymond married Mary Atard on 16.4.1994, who was born on 14.3.1966. Their children: Anthony b 24.8.1997, 

Rosmary married Garry Robbins in 1962, who was born in 1941. Their children Karen b 15.12.1963, Donna b 29.7.1965 and Jason b 4.12.1972.

Rosmary & Garry were divorced in early 1992.

Jason married Annette Gibblit on 7.10.1995, who was born on 3.6.1972.

Brenda married Geoffrey Donelly on 9.12.1964. Their children: Grant b 5.2.1965, Angela b 7.3.1968, Justin b 18.3.1971 and Anita b 27.8.1973.

Angela married Crawford Miller on 23.12.1996. They have a son Liam b 3.6.1997.

Justin married Jenifer Wong on 18.12.1991. Their children: Darren b 3.2.1993 and Tarra b 4.1.1997.

Wendy married Malcolm Darwent on 19.8.1972, who was born on 29.3.1943. Their children Joel b 20.11.1977, Erica b 25.6.1979 and Evan b 27.4.1981.


Back row: Heather, Brian, Margaret, Rhonda & Neil


Front: Laurie & Ron (his 80th birthday)

Ron married Ethel May Hunt in 1937, who was born in 1919. Ethel died on the 26.12.1981. 

Their children: Rhonda Elizabeth b 1938, Heather May b 1941 and Brian Edward b 1942. Ron died on 31.5.1996 aged 81 years.

Rhonda married Maurice Neil Willoughby in 1958, who was born in 1932. Their children: Janene Elizabeth b 1960, Sharolyn Mae b 1963, Suzanne Maree b 1968 and Damien Neil b 1976. 

Neil died on 12.5.1997 after a long illness.

Bruce Campbell holding Hayden, Janene, Damien,

Sharolyn & Rhonda. Front: Chloe W & Lydia C


 Rhonda Willoughby & her family

Susanne & her brother in law Michael died in a car accident near Pyalong in September 1991.

Janene married Michael Boyd Wilson in 1985, who was born in 1962. Michael & his sister in law Susanne died in a car accident near Pyalong in September 1991.

Janene & Michael had one child Chloe Louise b 1991.

Sharolyn married Bruce Elliott Campbell on the 28.3.1987, who was born in 1957.

Their children: Lydia Suzanne b 3.3.1992 and Hayden James b 28.11.1995.

Heather married Lawrence (Laurie) Henry Clarke in 1963, who was born in 1936.

Their children: Andrew b 1967, Phillip b 1970 and Sarah-Jane b 1972.

Brian married  Margaret Anne Batchelor in 1965, who was born in 1940.

Their children: Shane Bradley b 1967 and Jason Leigh b 1971.

Shane married Simone Radcliffe on 5.11.1988, who was born on 29.3.1968.

Their children: Christopher Shane b 13.6.1990 and Natasha Simone b 13.10.1995.

Alex and some of his sisters: Margaret

Joy, Yvonne & Mavis in the front (at Strathbogie) 1945/6

Alex left the small school at Prooinga about age 13 near where the family farmed the 640 acres in the Mallee, not all that far south of Manangatang; years of drought were soon to be upon them along with the great depression. He was already 6 foot tall and went off doing farm work/fencing and later took up shearing when he was 15, his wages going back home, to help keep the farm going. Shearing took him to most states, even doing a season in WA in 1940 before joining the army in 1942 (6th Division), catching up with his Uncle George near Meekatharra in WA and saw plenty of action in New Guinea. He certainly held strong views on the quality of some of the Army’s commanding officers! After the war years, he helped out his father and brother Alan with a saw mill out the back of Strathbogie before going back to Sydney where he got involved in the building industry. It was somewhere here that he met & married Val, whose dad was also involved in building. They bought a block of land covered with bush at Hornsby for 30 pounds! cleared it and built their house; however Sydney was not for this son of a farmer and they headed west in the old Hudson & caravan to start shearing again, all the while applying for land grants from Brewarrina to near Ballarat. Home was any sheep station in the 3 eastern states and I don’t think they lived in another house until about 1964 at Nyah West. It was here that Betty became very interested in the son of the local policeman!, later on the rest of the family shifted to around Boort where the family settled again. Alex was a very strong union man and Val once said to me “that when Henry Bolte retired as Premier of Victoria, his blood pressure went down by at least 10 points”.      

Alex married Valerie (Val) West in 1947, who was born in 1925. Their children: Gwendolyn Elizabeth (Betty) b 1949, John Alan b 1952, Ronald b 1957 and Donald  b 1965.

Val died on 5.12.1986 after a battle with cancer.


Betty, Graeme, David & Jennifer

Betty married David John McMillan in 1967, who was born in 1946. 

Their children: Gary b 7.4.1965, Graeme b 12.12.1968 and Jennifer b 28.10.1970. Gary was adopted as Gary Waltham Ford; in recent years Gary was re-united with his brother & sister and came to live with his parents at Donald after his adopted parents passed away. Gary died on 5.11.1998 after a battle with cancer. Deidre (now Mrs Patterson), Gary’s adopted sister & her family have also been welcomed into the McMillan family.


Anne & Jessica

Graeme married Anne Maree Hare in 1990, who was born in Colac on 8.10.1969.  One child: Jessica Anne b 15.10.1998.

John married Julie Pertzel in 1971. Their children: Michael b 1973 and Karina b 1978.

John & Julie were divorced in Dec 1993.

 John remarried in Dec 1994 to Marney Evans, who was born on 15.10.1952.

Marney has a daughter Leanne, born on 11.10.1978. John & family live in Alice Springs and are now involved in the furniture business.

Ronald married Debbie Smith in 1981, who was born in 1961. Their child: Jason Ronald b 1985. Ron & Debbie separated in 1994. Ron is still a great mechanic and lives in Rockhampton.

Alan was born and grew up in the Mallee but wasn’t very keen about it; however he loved the Murray and often would liked to have settled down near it. Instead the hills seemed to call him and after his stint in the army, he became somewhat of an axe man, falling timber in the Strathbogie Ranges and later milling logs at the mill on the outskirts of Euroa where the family grew up. 

The early 1960’s saw him (& many others) work out of Mansfield during the week hauling the very big timber (Woolly butt, Blue gum & Messmate) out from the Mt Buller & The Bluff areas. Innovative ways of keeping the trailer brakes cool were required in this steep country: kerosene tins filled with water with holes punched in them to dribble water onto the brake drums!; some things have improved a lot. Later on Alan started to do interstate transport work and plans to shift to Brisbane were formed. A 8 acre property near Jimboomba (Nth Maclean) was purchased in about 1970 and Alan, Isabelle & their youngest daughter Helen shifted north that year where a new home was made on a ridge over looking the Logan river.


Alan in 1967.

Alan married Isabelle Leersen in 1941, who was born in 1923. Their children: Patricia Dawn (Pat) b 1944, Mervyn John (John) b 1945, Kevin Dale b 1947 ( Kevin died as a result of an accident in 1949), Raymond Charles (Ray) b 1950, Colin Leslie b 1951, Geoffrey Alan (Geoff) b 1952, and Helen Lynette b 1956. Alan died on the 12.3.1986 aged 66 years and is buried at a small cemetery near Maclean’s Bridge, QLD.

Pat married Maurice Rupert Dash in 1964, who was born in 1941. Their children: Vicki Teresa b 1965, Ian Maurice b 1967 and John Stanley b 1969.

Pat and Maurice were divorced in 1986. 

Vicki married Fabian Mario Abbatangelo in 1983, who was born in 1963. Their children:  Rodney George b 26.5.1987 and Ryan Samuel b 8.5.1998.

      Ray, Julie-anne, Danyce & Damian, 1999

Ian married Kerry Ann Bunker on 4.3.1989, who was born on 31.7.1967. Their children: Jason Ian b 10.10.1988, Brett John b 28.12.1990 & Jamiee Renae b 16.3.1995.

Ray married Danyce Mary Diggle in 1974. Their children: Julie-Anne b 1977 and Damian Garrett b 1980.

Geoff married Susan Cameron in 1975, who was born in 1952, Geoff and Sue were divorced in 1980. 

Geoff remarried on 30.3.1984 to Michele Gouyet (from Jersey U.K) who was born in 1964. Their child: Danielle Claire b 23.5.1995. Geoff and Michelle presently live on Jersey and all going well are expecting their 2nd child in the year 2000.

Helen had a daughter Amanda Joy in January 1971, who was then adopted. Helen married Selwyn Charles Harman in 1975, who was born in 1950. Their children: Kathleen Michelle b 1975 and Alan Charles b 1978.

Helen & Selwyn divorced on 8.11.1991.

Kathy and Dwayne Treble had a son Raymond John (Ray) b 2.3.1994

Kathy & Lance have a daughter Megan b 14.9.1999

       Winifred & Lyn (2 years old)

A few lines about  Fred from his daughter Lyn:

 “My father rarely spoke about his early life. I was aware of his great affection for his mother and the great loss he felt at her passing. The journey (after her death) that he and his brother Alex undertook, seeking work as far afield as Queensland is part of the lost mysteries of my family history. I am aware that my father was glad to reconnect with his family before his untimely death at age 49.

Pop was a jack of all trades. He was a good worker and an intelligent man who never settled anywhere for very long. Like many rural men of his time, lack of formal education limited his opportunities but he was rarely out of work and always quick to learn new skills. He was a good looking man, attractive to women and liked equally by men. He loved his home in North Rocks (Sydney) which backed onto a reserve at Lake Parramatta. He would have loved to have shared the area with grandsons Brett & Grant. Marion & Brett’s son Alexander is named after Alex, in memory of that epic trip from the family home to Queensland. Its nice also to see the name Sophie come back into the family. 

Pop would have been equally pleased with Brett’s mastery of practical skills as with Grant’s academic success. Its a great shame that he was not able to share their journey through to adulthood but fortunately their grandmother has been there for all the important milestones of our lives.”

   Brett & Grant with Lyn at her Uni graduation 1998

Fred married Winifred Seymour Sands in 1940, who was born in 1922, They had one child: Lynette (Lyn) Marie b 1940 in Charleville, QLD. Fred died on the 11th Jan 1970 aged 49.

Lyn married Paul Leslie DeWitt-Jones in 1959, who was born in 1937. Their children: Grant Adam b 1960 and Brett Victor b 1962, Lyn and Paul separated in 1976 and were divorced in 1979. Lyn’s partner is Lewis (Lew) Jackson, who was born in Grimsby (UK) in 1933.

Grant married Samantha Enfield in 1990, who was born on 14.2.1964. They had no children and are divorced. Grant & Dianne Maree Allen plan to marry on 21.1.2000.

Brett married Marion Louise Attard on 21.12.1991, who was born on 27.10.1971.

Their children: Alexander Matthew b 26.3.1997 and Sophie Kathleen b 26.4.1999.

Doug left school at Pooringa after contracting polio as a young lad of 12 years. He spent about 2 months in the Swan Hill hospital then a month or so in the Mildura Base hospital; fortunately after some months he was able to walk again. The war years were now upon him and he worked upon the 15,000 acre Government owned rice farm across the river in NSW. Later he worked for his older brother Ron down near Lake Merrin growing specialist crops that were needed during those war years: millet, broom & Sudan grass.

Later as the family shifted to Strathbogie, Doug also went & worked at one of the saw mills set up there. About this time he met & married Dorothy Jean McKay, who was born in 1927 before starting his mechanic training on Holdens at Nicholson’s garage in Euroa in 1949, which was followed up by quite some years working on trucks & tractors at Windy’s; before they shifted up to Wangaratta and later Brisbane. Doug & Dot have retired back to Glenrowan but still seem to be as busy as ever.


Trevor                    Noel                   Greg                          Bev

Wendy & Jordana        Doug            Dot & Adam           Kerrie & Ian

Their children: Beverley Kay b 1947, Trevor Douglas b 1952, Ian James b 1954, Noel Andrew b 1958 and Gregory (Greg) Ross b 1962.

Beverley married John McNamera. No children. Beverley and John have now divorced.

Trevor married Wendy Joy McCrohan.  Their children: Adam Robert b 1977 and Jordana Paige b 1980.

Ian married Kerrie Louise Adams. Their children: Twins, Emma Jane & Simon Douglas b 16.11.1991. Ian & Kerrie separated in 1994.    Ian’s partner is Jaimie Styles.


           Charlie & Judith, 1954

Noel married Janet Maree Cleary on 5.1.1991.

Charlie was named after his father and by all accounts was actually able to read before going to school, where he also did well but was probably limited by the schooling then available in a small one teacher school in the mallee. He worked for many years as a trouble shooter & draftsman at the famous Furphy Foundry in Shepparton. At some point he obtained his pilots licence and is a regular flyer. He also has had a long association with Central Australia where he has gone regularly looking for mineral deposits. Charlie turned 70 this year but is still playing district cricket!.

Charles (Charlie) Herbert married Judith Mary Hooper in 1954, who was born in 1934. Their children: Peter John b 1956 and Tamara Louise b 1967.

Peter married Elizabeth (Liz) Hall on 9.4.1994, who was born in May 1966. One child: Lilian Jetta b 20.2.1998.

Tamara married George Tsatsaris on 20.11.93, who was born in November 1963.

Their children: Candice Judy b 5.6.1994 & Dean Charles b 1995.

             Judith & Charlie, grandchildren Candice & Dean


Marj taken in Hobart

Margerite (Margie) Elizabeth married Val F. Filder, an Industrial Chemist. They left  Australia in 1957, and have lived mostly in the USA and Canada. Nothing has been heard from Margie for 15 years or so, but we live in hope of hearing some news of her one day.

Doreen Joyce (Joy) married Kenneth Pearce in Hobart in 1950. Their children: Mavia b 1951, Leiza b 1957 and Madaline b 1959

Joy has raised her girls mostly as a single Mum and has done an excellent job of doing so; it has been most worthwhile getting to know them & their families.

Mavia married Allan Justin in 21.8.1968. Their children: Sean b 1969, Amanda b 1971 and Damian b 1974.

Mavia and Allan were divorced in 1982.

Mavia remarried in 1996 to Rodney Gange, who was born in 1959.

Sean married Marlene Goodman in 1994 who was born in 4.11.1962

Their children: Ben b 4.5.1994 and b Breanna 18.7.1996 

Amanda has a son Jamie Stadly b 9.2.1996

Damian & Trudy Pickles had a child: Jacob Christopher Pickles b 22.7.1997.

Damian died in November 1997.

Mary & Yvonne & baby Racheal

Leiza married Warren Cliften in 1986 in Winchelsea.

Their children:  Millicent (Millie) b 1988 and Emie b 1991.

Madaline has a daughter Ellen.

            Stuart on guitar

Yvonne mostly grew up in Echuca and after her High School years, did her nursing training at the Mooroopna Base Hospital  before shifting to Melbourne and taking up private nursing. She married Jack Casey in 1964, who was born in 1925. Jack has had a long interest in foundry and engineering work and has built many fine steam model engines.

Their children:  Stuart Clifford b Oct 1969 and Rashelle Leanne born August 1971.

Rashelle & Glenn with Racheal & Kristen 1995

Rashelle and her partner Glenn Powell have twin girls: Kristen Leigh & Racheal Brooke b 16.4.1995.

Racheal & Kirsten, growing quickly (1997)

Nicole, Michelle & Luke, Mary with Alexia & Hayley

Mavis also did her schooling in Echuca and later worked for many years at St Andrews Hospital in Melbourne. She actually met Ken Scott when he was the licensee of the Seven Creeks Hotel in Euroa and Mavis was waitressing there and they kept in touch over the years. 

Mavis married Kenneth Grierson Scott in 1965 and they lived at Upwey until shifting to Brisbane in 1971. Here they both enjoyed their passion for racing Grey hounds. 

They had two children: Nicole  Susan b 9.9.1967 and Michelle Simone b 22.9.1970. Mavis died on the 17. 5 1983 after a brave battle with cancer aged just 43 years.

Nicole married Steven Bassett, They have 2 very musically talented children: Hayley Anne b Jan 1989 & Alexia Brittany b June 1991. 

Nicole & Steven are now separated.

Michelle has a son Luke Andrew Kenneth b 6.1.1993.

My grateful thanks to you all for all your help,  for without it there would not have been all that much to write up at all. Some of you have worked particularly hard at gathering information from your families on my behalf.

I have tried to be as accurate as possible, but where I have made mistakes please excuse me, but let me know so that they can be corrected









Ray Leerson
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